




























































Pleasant Hill/Contra Costa Centre BART 
Transit Village Site Plan


N


1.6 Acres
Block C


2.27Acres 
Block D








1 
 


Drug and Alcohol Policy (Substance Abuse Program) 
Safety Sensitive Employees 


 
Revised December 2015 


 
Page(s) Revision Explanation Source  


 
 
1, 7, 50 
 
 
 


Prohibited Drugs: Sections A1.4 and C1.6 
Exhibit 2 


The current policy has an incomplete list. 
This revision adds the complete chart of all 
drugs and their metabolites that are covered 
under DOT regulations. 


Per FTA Audit Report       
                                                                             
Section 40.87 of the DOT regulations 


1 
 


Section A1.3 (Page 1) Employee Services 
Representative italicized. 


Italicized text represents District authority Per FTA Audit Report       
 
Employee Services Representative is not an FTA 
definition. Italicize this term to indicate that it is 
included under company authority. 


13 
 


Section F3.4 added: "except the follow-up 
testing plan per 40.32 (c)" 


Under Confidentiality and Disclosure of 
records, there is an exception to what an 
employee can request in regards to the 
follow-up testing plan 


Per FTA Audit Report                                                    
40.329 (c) of the DOT regulations 


19, 22 
 


Section A5.1 and A6.1 removed "as soon 
as possible" and replaced with 
"immediately"    


Clarification of the language to align with 
the regulation language 


Per FTA Audit Report 







2 
 


20 
 


Section A5.8 complete list of the reasons 
for DOT test added and "the re-collection 
need not be immediate." was removed. 


Clarification of the language to align with 
the regulation language 


Per FTA Audit Report 


21 
 


Section 5.13 "All return-to-duty and 
follow-up testing must be directly 
observed." was added. 


Clarification of the language to align with 
the regulation language 


Per FTA Audit Report 


22 
 


Section 6.4 "and" replaced "or." Clarification of the language to align with 
the regulation language 


Per FTA Audit Report 


23, 39 
 


Section 7.1 and 14.2 "…has the same or 
similar consequences to receiving a 
verified positive test result." 


The text was imprecise and this revised 
language clarifies the DOT violation 


Per FTA Audit Report        
                                                                                  
 


25 Section 8.1 "…refusal to" replaced 
"positive." 


This behavior is technically a refusal to test, 
and is not considered a positive test. 


Per FTA Audit Report 


28 Section 10.5 "...efforts to conduct a post-
accident drug test must cease" replaced 
"the test must be canceled and…" 


The test administration, after 32 hours, is 
ceased not canceled 


Per FTA Audit Report    
                                                                                       


Per 655.44(b) of the DOT regulations 
 


30 
 


Section 10.17 and 10.18: text italicized Italicized text represents District authority Per FTA Audit Report 







3 
 


30 
 


Section 11.1 "just" replaces "immediately" Clarification of the language to align with 
the regulation language 


Per FTA Audit Report     
                                                                             
655.43(b) of the DOT regulations 


31 
 


Section 11.6.3 Language added: "Requests 
for union representation will not delay 
testing, per section 40.61(b)." 


Clarification of the language to align with 
the regulation language. 


Per FTA Audit Report   
                                                                                       


Section 40.61(b) 


32, 44 
 


Section 11.6.4, Appendix B 5.1 and 5.5 
“SAP" replaced by "SAC" (Substance 
Abuse Counselor) 


For the non-DOT referrals for treatment, the 
employee will speak with a Substance 
Abuse Counselor. 
 
Report Substance Abuse Professional (SAP) 
is a DOT defined term.  Only covered 
employees with a DOT violation may be 
referred to a SAP.  All others may be 
referred to a counselor, EAP or other such 
generic term. 
 


Per FTA Audit Report                                                    


32 
 


Section 11.6.8 "If the drug and alcohol 
tests are negative, the employee will be 
made whole" was Italicized. 


Italicized text represents District authority Per the FTA Audit Report 


36 
 


Random Alcohol Testing: Section 13.1 
states inaccurate language. 


Clarification of the language to align with 
the regulation language 


Per FTA Audit Report 
                                                                              
Section 655.45(i) states:  "A covered employee shall 
only be randomly tested for alcohol misuse while the 
employee is performing safety-sensitive functions; 
just before the employee is to perform safety-
sensitive functions; or just after the employee has 
ceased performing such functions." 
 







4 
 


38 Section 13.9 "must equal" replaced by 
"minimum" 


Clarification of the language to align with 
the regulation language.  


Per FTA Audit Report 
                                                                                     
655.45(a) of the DOT regulations 


39 Section 14.3, Italics removed FTA regulated language was previously in 
italics. FTA provisions are not italicized in 
our policy. 


Per FTA Audit Report 


40 
 


Section 14.6 Italicized text: "The employee 
shall be in a non-pay status for the eight (8) 
hour period of non-availability." 


Italicized text represents District authority Per FTA Audit Report 


40 
 


Section 14.8.2 inserted "immediately" Clarification of the language to align with 
the regulation language 


Per FTA Audit Report 


40 Section 15.4 "SAP" was removed and 
"District Drug Testing Coordinator" was 
added and italicized 


The transit agency is responsible for 
coordinating the return to duty test not the 
SAP 


Per FTA Audit Report 


45, 46 Appendix C removed italics FTA provisions are not italicized in our 
policy 


Per FTA Audit Report 


 


 


 







5 
 


Revisions in April 2015 


 
Page(s) 


 
Revision 


 
Explanation 


 
Source 


 
13 
 
 
 


Margaret Saget's name to 
David M. Wong with 
appropriate telephone, fax, 
and cell numbers. 


Margaret Saget retired and David Wong 
was hired as her replacement.  


DOT Regulation –  
 
Section 655.15(a) states that the policy shall 
provide:  "The identity of the person, office, 
branch and/or position designated by the 
employer to answer employee questions about 
the employers anti-drug use and alcohol misuse 
programs." 


2, 7, 9, 10, 11, 17, 
29, 32, 36, 37, 39, 


40, 42, 43, 50 
 
 
 


Reference to Employee 
Service Representative 
(ERS) to Substance Abuse 
Professional (SAP) where 
appropriate. 


The functions performed by the 
Employee Services Representative was 
transferred to a Substance Abuse 
Professional. 


 
DOT Regulation -  
 
Section 655.62(a) states: “If a covered 
employee has a verified positive drug test 
result, or has a confirmed alcohol test of 0.04 
or greater, or refuses to submit to a drug or 
alcohol test required by this part, the employer 
shall advise the employee of the resources 
available for evaluating and resolving problems 
associated with prohibited drug use 
and alcohol misuse, including the names, 
addresses, and telephone numbers of 
substance abuse professionals (SAPs) and 
counseling and treatment programs.” 







6 
 


50 
 


Exhibit A, Drug and Alcohol 
Testing Providers:  added 
SAP, Patricia Altemura, with 
address and phone number; 
updated the MRO address; 
and updated the current on-
site collection companies. 


Updated information with the current 
list of vendors. 


 
DOT Regulations –  
 
Section 40.287 states: “As an employer, you 
must provide to each employee (including an 
applicant or new 
employee) who violates a DOT drug and 
alcohol regulation a listing of SAPs readily 
available to the employee and acceptable to 
you, with names, addresses, and telephone 
numbers.  You cannot charge the employee any 
fee for compiling or providing this list. You 
may provide this list yourself or through a 
C/TPA or other service agent.” 
 
Section 40.15(b) states: “As an employer, 
you are responsible for ensuring that the 
service agents you use meet the 
qualifications set forth in this part (e.g., 
Section 40.121 for MROs). You may 
require service agents to show you 
documentation that they meet the 
requirements of this part (e.g., 
documentation of MRO qualifications 
required by Section 40.121(e)).” 
 







7 
 


44 – 45 
 


Exhibit E, Safety-Sensitive 
Employees Matrix: added 
new titles of Deputy Police 
Chief and Quality Team 
Leader. 


The new positions/titles of Deputy 
Police Chief and Quality Team Leader 
are classified as safety-sensitive and 
now included in this matrix. 


DOT Regulation – 
 
Section 655.15(b) states the policy shall include: 
“The categories of employees who are subject to 
the provisions of this part.” Safety-sensitive 
functions are described in Section 655.4, 
Definitions, under “Safety-sensitive.” The 
policy should clarify which jobs are covered 
because they do or may involve the performance 
of safety-sensitive duties. 


6, 46 – 48  
 


SUBSTANCES FOR 
WHICH TESTING WILL 
OCCUR: Added line G.  
MDMA, MDE,  & MDS 
(Ectasty) - this was added by 
DOT effective 1001-2010 
along with changes to cutoff 
levels for cocaine and 
methamphetamine.  (There 
was a letter explaining these 
changes to all employees 
dated 09-16-2010 - a copy is 
attached for ease of 
reference.) 


DOT implemented this change on 10-
01-2010. 


DOT Regulations - 
 
Section 655.21(c) states: “Consumption of these 
products is prohibited at all times.”  
 
Section 655.45(i) states:  “A covered employee 
may be randomly tested for prohibited drug use 
anytime while on duty.” 


 


 


 


 







8 
 


Revisions in August 2016 


 
Page(s) 


 
Revision 


 
Explanation 


 
Source 


8 
 
 
 


Language in 5.1 was revised to: 
 
All BART employees are subject 
to the provisions of the Federal 
Drug Free Workplace Act of 1988 
and the California Drug Free 
Workplace Act of 1990.  


Revised language provides clarity to 
the policy. 


 
 
 
 
Drug and Alcohol Policy for Safety Sensitive 
Employees 


 
19 
 


Language in 5.8.8 was revised to: 
 
There is a valid specimen without 
a valid medical explanation  


Revised language provides clarity to 
the policy. 


Drug and Alcohol Policy for Safety Sensitive 
Employees 







9 
 


23 


Language in 7.2.13 was revised to: 
 
For an observed collection, failing 
to follow an observer’s 
instructions to raise clothing above 
the waist, lower clothing and 
underpants, and to turn around to 
permit an observer to determine if 
there is any type of prosthetic or 
other devise that could be used to 
interfere with the collection. 


Revised language provides clarity to 
the policy. 


Drug and Alcohol Policy for Safety Sensitive 
Employees 


20-21 


Language in 5.14 


5.14     Recollection of a negative 
dilute specimen is required for 
pre-employment and return to duty 
tests only and will not be under 
direct observation except as 
specified in 5.13 above. Provided, 
however, that if the MRO directs 
the collector to conduct a               
recollection under direct 
observation under § 40.197(b)(1), 
the collector must immediately do 
so. 


5.14.1    If the result of the 
recollection the employee was 
directed to take under                   


Revised language provides clarity to 
the policy. Revised language provides clarity to the policy. 







10 
 


40.197(b)(1) is also negative and 
dilute, the employee is not 
required to take an additional test 
because the result was dilute.  


5.14.2    If the result of the 
recollection the employee was 
directed to take under                        
40.197(b)(2) is also negative and 
dilute, the employee is not 
required to take an additional test 
because the result was dilute.  


 
 


 


 








Adopted May 2006  Updated:  December  2015 


 


 
 
 
This policy addresses FTA Regulations and District procedures related thereto.  Existing District 


policy on drug and alcohol testing under its own, or other authority remains in effect, as do 
existing District procedures for Drug and Alcohol Testing. 


 
 
 
 


San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District  
Drug Abuse and Alcohol Misuse Policy  


For 
Safety Sensitive Employees 


Under 
FTA Regulations 


 
 
 
 
 
 


Administered by  
 BART 


Human Resources Department 
Employee Services Unit 


510-464-6198 
 
 
 
 
 


   
 
 
 
 







  


   
                     Note:  Italics reflect provisions of BART policy and procedures that 
                              are not required by federal law. 
 
Adopted May 2006 


 4  


CONTENTS 
Section           Page  
 
A.  Definitions, Guiding Principles, Purposes and Policy Objectives 1 
 
B.  Applicability 4 
 
C.  Standards of Conduct 6 
 
D.  Required Disclosure, Test Categories, and Union Representation 8 
 
E.  Non-Disciplinary Consequences of Positive Test Result 9 
 
F.  Records, Confidentiality and Disclosure 10 
 
G.  Management and Supervisory Responsibilities 12 
 
H.  Education and Training Requirements 12 
 
I.    Contractors and Vendors 13 
 
J.    Designated Employer Representative 13 
 
K.  Revisions to the Policy and Program 13 
 
 
Appendices 
Appendix A – Test Procedures 15 
           
Appendix B – Rehabilitation 39 
 
Appendix C – Disciplinary and Related Consequences of Drug and  
 Alcohol Testing Program 42 
 
Exhibits: 
Exhibit 1  Safety Sensitive Employee Matrix 44     
Exhibit 2  Controlled Substances Initial and Confirmatory Cut-Off Levels 46 
Exhibit 3  Controlled Substances Fact Sheet 48 
Exhibit 4  Alcohol Misuse Fact Sheet 49 
Exhibit 5  Drug and Alcohol Testing Providers 50







 


   
                  Note:  Italics reflect provisions of BART policy and procedures that 
                           are not required by federal law. 
 
Adopted May 2006    


 1  


 
A. DEFINITIONS, GUIDING PRINCIPLES, PURPOSES AND POLICY   
 OBJECTIVES OF THIS POLICY. 


 
1.0 Definitions.  For the purposes of this policy and related appendices, exhibits 


and procedures, the following definitions shall apply: 
 


1.1 Alcohol:  "Alcohol" means the intoxicating agent in beverage alcohol, ethyl 
alcohol, or other low molecular weight alcohol including methyl or 
isopropyl alcohol. 


 
1.2 Designated Employer Representative (DER):  An employee 


authorized by the employer to take certain actions consistent with the 
requirements of the federal drug and alcohol testing program. 


 
1.3 Employee Services Representative (ESR):  An employee authorized by 


the employer to take certain actions consistent with the requirements of the 
District’s drug and alcohol testing and rehabilitation program.  


 
1.4  Illegal Substances:  Marijuana (THC), Amphetamines (Amphetamine, 


Methanphetamine), Opiates (Codeine,Morphine,6acety1morphine), Cocaine 
metabolities (Benzoylecgonine), Phencyclidine (PCP), and their metabolites. 


 
1.5 Legal Drugs:  A legal drug is a legally prescribed drug for which an 


individual has a prescription or other written approval from a physician for 
use in the course of medical treatment. Legal drugs also include over-the-
counter medications. 


 
1.6    Medical Review Officer (MRO):  The MRO is a designated licensed 


Medical Doctor (medical doctor or doctor of osteopathy) responsible for 
receiving laboratory test results, who has knowledge of substance abuse 
disorders and has appropriate medical training to evaluate and interpret test 
results.  


 
1.7  Policy (or This Policy):  This policy and related appendices and  exhibits


 attached thereto. 
 


 1.8 Rehabilitation Program: A rehabilitation program is an opportunity for 
treatment related to drug or alcohol use, which includes aftercare and 
follow-up testing.  An employee who is eligible for rehabilitation in 
accordance with Appendix B of this policy, and who requests and otherwise 
complies with the terms of rehabilitation will not be disciplined for violation 
of this policy so long as he/she remains in the rehabilitation program. 







 


   
                  Note:  Italics reflect provisions of BART policy and procedures that 
                           are not required by federal law. 
 
Adopted May 2006    


 2  


 
1.9 Substance Abuse Professional (SAP). A Substance Abuse 


Professional (SAP) is a designated licensed physician (Medical Doctor 
or Doctor of Osteopathy), a licensed or certified psychologist, social
 worker, employee assistance professional, marriage and family 
therapist, or addiction counselor (certified by the National Association
 of Alcoholism and Drug Abuse Counselor’s Certification 
Commission, or by the International Certification Reciprocity 
Consortium/Alcohol & Other Drug Abuse or by the National 
Board for Certified Counselors, Inc. and Affiliates/Master Addictions 
Counselor). 
 


1.10 Treatment.  Treatment provided under the District’s Employee 
Assistance Program, which is administered by Employee Services Unit. 


 
2.0 Guiding Principles 


There are four guiding principles underlying the District’s adoption of its 
policy on a drug and alcohol-free workplace.  They are: 


 
2.1 Education. The District believes that education and training of all 


employees in the effects and treatment of substance abuse will 
contribute to a safer and more efficient workplace for everyone. 


 
2.2 Deterrence.  The District is committed to eliminating the effects of 


substance abuse in the workplace.  All employees are prohibited from 
using, possessing, buying or selling drugs or alcohol in the workplace, 
and  are prohibited from reporting to work or being subject to work 
(specifically, on call or on break) with prohibited drugs or alcohol in 
their systems. 


 
2.3 Enforcement.  The substance abuse policy will be strictly enforced.  


Violation of its requirements will be cause for discipline, up to and 
including termination of employment. 


 
2.4 Treatment.  The District is committed to helping employees with 


admitted substance abuse problems overcome those problems, and 
encourages use of the voluntary rehabilitation option, as described 
later in this document.  


 







 


   
                  Note:  Italics reflect provisions of BART policy and procedures that 
                           are not required by federal law. 
 
Adopted May 2006    


 3  


3.0 The Purposes and Policy Objectives 


The San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District (BART) is dedicated to 
providing transit services that are convenient, safe, efficient, and effective.  
BART employees are our  most valuable resource, and the safety of our 
riders is our most important service priority.  The purposes and objectives of 
this policy are: 


 
3.1 To implement a fair and balanced approach to eliminating substance 


abuse and its effects on the employees; 
 


3.2 To protect all passengers and employees; 
 
3.3 To maintain a safe and efficient transportation system, to establish a 


safe, drug-free and alcohol-free workplace, and to maintain a work 
environment free of drug and alcohol related performance problems, 
accidents, and injuries;  


 
3.4 To provide a strong incentive for rehabilitation, and to encourage 


employees to voluntarily seek professional assistance through the 
District’s Employee Assistance Program (EAP) whenever  personal 
problems, including alcohol and drug use, adversely affect their 
ability to perform their assigned duties.  Employees seeking assistance 
should contact the Employee Services unit. Under the  conditions set 
forth in this policy, BART will assist employees who demonstrate their 
willingness to seek and accept professional help; 


 
3.5 To provide assistance towards the rehabilitation of any eligible 


employee who seeks BART’s help in overcoming addiction to, 
dependence on, or problems with alcohol or drugs;  


 
3.6 To detect, deter, educate about, and prevent abuse of drugs and misuse 


of alcohol; 
 


3.7 To take appropriate action to ensure that employees are not impaired 
by substance abuse in their ability to perform assigned duties in a safe, 
productive, and healthy manner; 


 
3.8 To provide a drug and alcohol free environment for all employees and 


patrons; 
 







 


   
                  Note:  Italics reflect provisions of BART policy and procedures that 
                           are not required by federal law. 
 
Adopted May 2006    


 4  


3.9 To prohibit the unlawful manufacture, distribution, dispensing, 
possession, or use of controlled substances (as defined in the 
Controlled Substances Act); 


 
3.10 Substance abuse can be treated.  BART promotes a voluntary 


rehabilitation program to encourage employees to seek confidential 
professional assistance through BART’s Employee Assistance 
Program (EAP) prior to testing positive for drugs or alcohol;  


 
3.11 To comply with all Federal and drug and alcohol regulations 


mandated by FTA and DOT for the transit industry as they may be 
amended and supplemented from time to time, as well as all 
provisions of the Omnibus Transportation Employee Testing Act of 
1991; 


 
3.12 Specifically to comply with 49CFR Part 655, which mandates drug 


testing and breath alcohol testing for transit employees performing 
safety sensitive functions.  These regulations prohibit performance of 
safety sensitive functions when there is a violation of the rules and/or 
a positive test result.  The FTA regulations require random testing of 
safety sensitive employees for drugs and alcohol, and to comply with 
49CFR Part 40, which sets the standards for the collection and testing 
of specimen and verification of test results. 


    
B. APPLICABILITY 


 
1.0 Safety Sensitive Employees 


1.1 This Policy applies to all employees in safety sensitive classifications, 
and those who promote, demote, or transfer into safety sensitive 
classifications, and to employees of contractors who perform safety 
sensitive functions. Under DOT/FTA Drug and Alcohol Testing 
procedures and regulations, safety sensitive employees are required to 
comply with all DOT/FTA mandated drug and alcohol regulations. 
They are subject to pre-employment, reasonable suspicion, post 
accident, random, return-to-duty, and follow-up drug and alcohol 
testing, as specified in Appendix A to this policy.  


 







 


   
                  Note:  Italics reflect provisions of BART policy and procedures that 
                           are not required by federal law. 
 
Adopted May 2006    


 5  


1.2 For the purposes of alcohol testing, performing a safety sensitive 
function includes any period during which the employee is actually 
performing, ready to perform, is immediately available to perform, or 
has just performed a safety sensitive function.  The District will not 
commence a drug or alcohol test during an employee’s regular lunch 
or break periods, but if a test commences before such period it will 
continue to completion even if the test extends into such period.  Such 
period shall, in this event, be treated as time worked and paid in 
accordance with the applicable CBA. 


 
1.3 Safety sensitive classifications are enumerated in Exhibit A, Safety 


 Sensitive Positions.  
 


1.4 Safety sensitive functions include:  
 


1.4.1 Operating a revenue service vehicle, whether or not the vehicle 
is in service; 


 
1.4.2 Operating a non-revenue service vehicle when required to be 


operated by a holder of a Commercial Driver's License (CDL); 
 


1.4.3 Controlling dispatch or movement of a revenue service vehicle 
or equipment used in revenue service; 


 
1.4.4 Maintaining (including repairs, overhaul, and rebuilding) a 


revenue service vehicle or equipment used in revenue service;   
 


1.4.5 Carrying a firearm for security purposes; 
 


1.4.6 Supervisors who perform any of these functions or whose job 
description includes the performance of any of the functions 
listed above; 


 
1.4.7 Volunteer activities that include any of the above functions 


 are included provided that the volunteer is required to 
hold a commercial driver’s license to operate the vehicle or 
that the volunteer performs a safety sensitive function and 
receives remuneration in excess of actual expenses incurred.  


 
2.0 Participation in the substance abuse testing program is a condition of 


employment for each safety sensitive employee.  
 







 


   
                  Note:  Italics reflect provisions of BART policy and procedures that 
                           are not required by federal law. 
 
Adopted May 2006    


 6  


C. STANDARDS OF CONDUCT   


Employees shall observe the following standards of conduct.   
 
1.0 Prohibited Illegal Substances 


FTA regulations require testing for the following  prohibited substances:  
Initial test analyte Initial test cutoff concentration Confirmatory test analyte Confirmatory test cutoff concentration


Marijuana metabolites 50 ng/mL THCA1 15 ng/mL. 


Cocaine metabolites 150 ng/mL Benzoylecgonine 100 ng/mL. 


Opiate metabolites    


Codeine/Morphine2 2000 ng/mL Codeine 2000 ng/mL. 
  Morphine 2000 ng/mL. 


6–Acetylmorphine 10 ng/mL 6–Acetylmorphine 10 ng/mL. 


Phencyclidine 25 ng/mL Phencyclidine 25 ng/mL. 


Amphetamines3    


AMP/MAMP4 500 ng/mL Amphetamine 250 ng/mL. 
  Methamphetamine5 250 ng/mL. 


MDMA6 500 ng/mL MDMA 250 ng/mL. 
  MDA7 250 ng/mL. 
  MDEA8 250 ng/mL 


 


1Delta-9-tetrahydrocannabinol-9-carboxylic acid (THCA). 
2Morphine is the target analyte for codeine/morphine testing. 
3Either a single initial test kit or multiple initial test kits may be used provided the single test kit detects each 
target analyte independently at the specified cutoff. 
4Methamphetamine is the target analyte for amphetamine/methamphetamine testing. 
5To be reported positive for methamphetamine, a specimen must also contain amphetamine at a concentration equal 
to or greater than 100 ng/mL. 
6Methylenedioxymethamphetamine    
(MDMA). 7Methylenedioxyamphetamine 
(MDA). 
8Methylenedioxyethylamphetamine    
(MDEA). 


 
2.0 Alcohol.  


 2.1    An employee is prohibited from reporting or remaining on duty when his or 
her ability to perform assigned functions is adversely affected or when his 
or her breath alcohol concentration is 0.02 or greater. 


 
 2.2 The use or possession of alcohol, which shall include over-the-counter and 


prescription medication containing alcohol, while in the workplace, 
including lunch and breaks is prohibited.  The possession of an unopened, 







 


   
                  Note:  Italics reflect provisions of BART policy and procedures that 
                           are not required by federal law. 
 
Adopted May 2006    


 7  


sealed container of alcohol is not a violation of this rule. 
 
2.3 No safety sensitive employee shall use alcohol while on duty or while 


performing safety sensitive functions, nor within four hours prior to 
performing such work, nor if a test is required, for eight hours following an 
accident or until a post-accident alcohol test is performed. 


 
2.4 Alcohol use is impermissible while on-call to perform a safety sensitive 


duty.  If an on-call employee is called in to work, the employee must be 
given the opportunity to acknowledge the use of alcohol within four hours   
prior to being called to report to duty, and to indicate whether he/she is able 
to perform his or her safety sensitive function.  The regulations require that 
a safety sensitive employee who acknowledges the use of alcohol but 
claims to be able to perform safety sensitive functions must take an alcohol 
test if he/she reports to work.  In accordance with federal regulations, on-
call safety sensitive employees who admit to having used alcohol at the 
time they are called to report to work will not be subject to evaluation, 
rehabilitation and follow-up testing as long as they do not report for work.  
If the employee is incapable of performing safety sensitive functions, the 
employee will be excused from such performance. 


 







 


   
                  Note:  Italics reflect provisions of BART policy and procedures that 
                           are not required by federal law. 
 
Adopted May 2006    


 8  


3.0 Legal Drugs 


3.1 The misuse of legal drugs while performing transit business is prohibited.  
 (The appropriate use of legally prescribed drugs and non-prescription 
 medications is not prohibited.) 


 
4.0 Reporting Use of Prescription or Over-the-Counter Medications 


4.1  Any employee taking prescription or over-the-counter medications 
including but not limited to those medications that contain alcohol, that 
adversely affects job performance must report this treatment to his/her 
immediate supervisor before reporting to perform work or, if taken at work, 
immediately. (Employees should read the labels or other information 
accompanying such medication in an effort to identify such risks.  If the 
employee is uncertain, he or she should err on the side of safety and report 
the treatment to the supervisor.) 


 
5.0 Manufacture, trafficking, possession, and use of controlled substances 


5.1 All BART employees are subject to the provisions of the Federal Drug 
Free Workplace Act of 1988 and the California Drug Free Workplace Act 
of 1990.  All employees are prohibited from using or possessing any 
illegal drugs during work time, or lunch or breaks. In addition, employees 
are prohibited from engaging in the manufacture and distribution of 
controlled substances. Law enforcement officials will be notified as 
appropriate, where criminal activity is suspected. 


 
6.0 Compliance With Recommendations of the Substance Abuse Professional 


and Other Requirements. 


6.1 Employees shall comply with the recommendations of the Substance 
Abuse Professional, issued pursuant to Section E below.  An employee 
with a verified positive drug or confirmed alcohol test must pass a return-
to-duty test, and submit to follow-up testing for a minimum of six (6) 
tests in the first year and additional testing for up to five years. 







 


   
                  Note:  Italics reflect provisions of BART policy and procedures that 
                           are not required by federal law. 
 
Adopted May 2006    


 9  


 
D. REQUIRED DISCLOSURE, TEST CATEGORIES, AND UNION 


REPRESENTATION. 
 
   1.0 Background Check and Disclosure 


Background checks will be conducted on all applicants and employee transfers 
to safety sensitive positions, if the applicant/employee is seeking to perform 
safety sensitive duties for the District for the first time.  Applicants and 
employee transfers applying for safety sensitive positions are required to sign a 
written consent allowing the District to obtain information regarding the 
applicant/employee’s DOT drug and alcohol testing history as follows.  Attempts 
will be made to obtain information on such applicants/employee transfers who 
performed a safety sensitive function, from all DOT-regulated prior employers 
who had employed the applicant anytime during the two (2) years before the date 
of the application or transfer.  The information sought will be limited to the two-
year period preceding the date of application/transfer and will include: 
 


 1.1 Alcohol tests with a result of 0.04 or higher alcohol concentration   (a 
positive test). 


1.2 Verified positive drug tests. 
 


1.3 Refusals to be tested, including verified adulterated and substituted drug 
test results. 


 
1.4   Other violations of DOT drug and alcohol testing regulations. 


 
1.5 Documentation of the employee’s successful completion of return-to-duty 


requirements and follow-up tests. 
 


The information to be obtained from previous employers under the federal 
regulations includes any alcohol and drug test information obtained from 
previous employers under FTA or other applicable DOT agency regulations 
within the two year period.  For example, if a former employer has 
information from other prior employers (within the two-year period), they 
are obligated to provide that information to the District. 


 
The District, as a grantee of Federal funds, requires as a condition of 
employment that employees notify the District of any criminal drug statute 
conviction for a violation occurring in the workplace no later than five days 
after the conviction.   







 


   
                  Note:  Italics reflect provisions of BART policy and procedures that 
                           are not required by federal law. 
 
Adopted May 2006    


 10  


 
2.0 Categories of Required Tests 


The following categories of testing are required under Federal regulations: 


2.1 Pre-Employment for: 
2.1.1 New hires; 
2.1.2 Transferees; and 
2.1.3 Employees returning from leaves after being out of the random test 


pool for 90 days or more and on resumption of safety sensitive 
duties; 


2.2 Reasonable Suspicion 


2.3 Post-Accident 


2.4 Random  


2.5 Return-To-Duty  


2.6 Follow-Up  
 


(See Appendix A for details regarding types of tests and testing procedures.)  
 


3.0 Union Representation 
When administering this Policy in connection with a specific employee, the 
District shall continue to comply with all applicable provisions of any District 
collective bargaining agreement or state or federal law that provides the 
employee with the right to union representation. 


 
 
E.  NON-DISCIPLINARY CONSEQUENCES OF A POSITIVE TEST RESULT/S 
 


1.0 Referral to Substance Abuse Professional (SAP).  DOT regulations require 
that employees with positive drug or alcohol tests, including substituted or 
adulterated specimens, must be referred for assessment and evaluation by a 
Substance Abuse Professional before being allowed to return to work. The 
regulations require a referral even when an employee is discharged.  


 
2.0 Substance Abuse Professional (SAP) 


 2.1 The Substance Abuse Professional shall have knowledge of and clinical 
experience in the diagnosis and treatment of alcohol and controlled 
substances related disorders. The SAP's role is to evaluate the employee's 
need for assistance in resolving problems related to alcohol or drug abuse, 
determine if the employee has complied with recommended treatment or 
rehabilitation, and to determine a program of follow-up testing. 







 


   
                  Note:  Italics reflect provisions of BART policy and procedures that 
                           are not required by federal law. 
 
Adopted May 2006    


 11  


2.2 The Substance Abuse Professional will assess the employee to determine 
 what treatment is required. Under DOT regulations, the employee must 
 comply with the recommendation of the Substance Abuse Professional 
 (SAP) to return to work. 


 
2.3 Applicants for safety sensitive positions, who are not employed by  BART, 


who test positive on a pre- employment test will be provided with a list of 
Substance Abuse Professionals (SAPs) from whom they may seek 
assessment and evaluation.  


 
3.0 Additional Non-disciplinary Consequences of a Positive Test Result.  An 


employee with a verified positive test result will be removed from duty (if not 
already removed from service) and referred to the Substance Abuse Professional.  
The employee must comply with the recommendations of the Substance Abuse 
Professional, pass a return-to-duty test, and submit to follow-up testing for a 
minimum of six (6) tests in the first year and additional tests for up to four more 
years (five years total). FTA regulations require that the employee comply with 
the recommendations of the Substance Abuse Professional, including the terms 
and conditions for rehabilitation before he/she can be returned to a safety 
sensitive position.   The employee must also comply with the SAP’s 
recommendations as to after care following return to his/her safety sensitive 
position. 


 
F RECORDS, CONFIDENTIALITY, AND DISCLOSURE 
 


1.0 Records Maintained By BART 
The regulations require that BART maintain records of its anti-drug and alcohol 
misuse program in a secure location with controlled access.  Records must be 
maintained as follows:  


 
1.1 One year: 


Results of negative drug tests and alcohol tests at 0.02 or lower 
 


1.2 Two years: 
Records of collection and training  
Records of blind sampling testing  


 
1.3 Three years: 


Records obtained from previous employers 







 


   
                  Note:  Italics reflect provisions of BART policy and procedures that 
                           are not required by federal law. 
 
Adopted May 2006    


 12  


 
1.4 Five years: 


Records of verified positive drug tests (including substituted and 
adulterated) and alcohol tests 0.02 or greater  
Documentation of refusals  
Calibration documentation  
Referrals to the SAP and evaluations  
Copies of the annual M.I.S. reports to the FTA  
Follow up tests and schedules for follow up tests. 


 
2.0 Retention of Records By Testing Laboratory 


The laboratory must maintain all records relating to each urine specimen for at 
least two years.   


 
3.0 Confidentiality and Disclosure of Records  


3.1 Privacy and Dignity.  The District affirms that all testing will be 
conducted in a manner that protects individual dignity, privacy and 
confidentiality throughout the testing process. 


 
3.2 Confidentiality and Release of Records.  All test results are confidential. 


Records that are confidential under federal law are separately maintained  
from all other employee personnel records and secured. Access and release 
is strictly limited. Release of any information that is confidential under 
applicable federal law is prohibited without consent of the employee, 
except as provided by law. 


 
3.3 Employees covered under the Federal regulations are entitled, upon written 


request, to obtain copies of any records held by BART pertaining to the 
covered employee’s use of prohibited drugs or misuse of alcohol, including 
any records pertaining to his or her drug or alcohol tests. 


 
3.4 Within ten (10) business days of receipt of a written request from the 


employee, MRO’s and service agents are required to provide copies of any 
records pertaining to the employee’s use of alcohol and/or drugs, including 
records of the employee’s DOT-mandated drug and/or alcohol tests.  
Similarly, upon written request of the employee made through the MRO, a 
laboratory must provide the records relating to the results of the employee’s 
drug test (i.e. laboratory report and data package).  The SAP must make 
available to the employee, upon request, a copy of all SAP reports, except 
the follow-up testing plan per 40.329© 


 
3.5 Upon written authorization by the employee, any records as described 


above, which can be released to the employee will be released to his/her 
union representative. 







 


   
                  Note:  Italics reflect provisions of BART policy and procedures that 
                           are not required by federal law. 
 
Adopted May 2006    


 13  


 
 


G. MANAGEMENT AND SUPERVISORY RESPONSIBILITIES 
 


1.0 A Manager or Supervisor must: 
 


1.1 Become fully conversant with this Policy and related procedures; 
 


1.2 Ensure that his or her employees are properly trained in the policies and
 procedures, and in the dangers of drug and alcohol abuse;  


 
1.3 Be knowledgeable about BART’s Employee Assistance Program and 


BART’s Substance Abuse Program;  
 
1.4 Be aware of substance abuse indicators and encourage employees who are


 suspected of substance abuse to refer themselves voluntarily;  
 


1.5 Conduct investigations promptly and properly when he or she suspects that
  an employee may be impaired or affected by drug or alcohol use; 


 
1.6 Initiate investigations promptly and properly when he or she suspects the 


presence of prohibited drugs or alcohol in the workplace or during work 
time, or lunch or breaks. 


 
1.7 Follow the reasonable suspicion procedure to determine whether drug or 


alcohol testing is appropriate and, if so, initiate testing, if the supervisor 
suspects the employee is impaired or affected by drug or alcohol use;  


 
1.8 Cooperate with the random drug and alcohol-testing program by providing 


access to selected employees just before, during, or just after the 
performance of safety sensitive functions.  


 
H. EDUCATION AND TRAINING REQUIREMENTS  
 


1.0 All supervisory personnel shall receive a minimum of two hours of training on 
the recognition of drug abuse and alcohol misuse (one hour on drug, and one 
hour on alcohol), including the physical, behavioral, and performance indicators 
of probable drug use and the physical, behavioral, speech and performance 
indicators of probable alcohol misuse.  In addition, supervisors will be provided 
with two (2) hours training on familiarization with and administration of this 
Policy (a total of four [4] hours). 







 


   
                  Note:  Italics reflect provisions of BART policy and procedures that 
                           are not required by federal law. 
 
Adopted May 2006    


 14  


 
2.0 The District will provide information regarding BART's drug and alcohol testing 


program, which shall include:  
 
 2.1 Written notice to every covered employee and labor organization of alcohol 
  and drug policies and procedures;  
 


2.2 Display and distribution of informational material;  
 


2.3 A community service hot line for employee assistance;  
 


2.4 Distribution of the Policy;  
 


2.5 A training program of one to two hours for employees, providing 
information on the District’s Substance Abuse Program, as well as the 
effects and consequences of drug abuse and alcohol misuse on personal 
health, safety, and the work environment, and on the signs and symptoms 
of questionable behavior, categories of employees subject to testing, and 
information on the consequences of positive testing.  


 
I.  CONTRACTORS AND VENDORS  
 


1.0 Any and all contractors and vendors hired to provide services for BART that are 
safety sensitive, as defined by the Federal Regulations, are required to follow 
procedures that comply with the collection and testing standards of the 
Department of Transportation (49 CFR Parts 40 and 655) ("Federal Rules").  


 
J.  DESIGNATED EMPLOYER REPRESENTATIVE  
 


1.0 Questions regarding this Policy or any other aspect of the San Francisco Bay 
Area Rapid Transit District’s Substance Abuse Program should be directed to the 
office of:  


 
NAME:          David M. Wong, ARM 
TITLE:            Human Resources Program Manager 
ADDRESS:  300 Lakeside Drive, 20th Floor 


             Oakland, CA 94612-3534 
       PHONE:  (510) 464-6198 
       CELL:     (510) 915-4384 
 


K.  REVISIONS TO THE POLICY AND PROGRAM 


This policy and program is subject to revision. 
 







 


   
                  Note:  Italics reflect provisions of BART policy and procedures that 
                           are not required by federal law. 
 
Adopted May 2006    


 15  


 
Appendices 
Appendix A – Test Procedures 15 
           
Appendix B – Rehabilitation 39 
 
Appendix C – Disciplinary and Related Consequences of Drug and  
 Alcohol Testing Program 42 
 
Exhibits: 
Exhibit 1  Safety Sensitive Employee Matrix 44     
Exhibit 2  Controlled Substances Initial and Confirmatory Cut-Off Levels 46 
Exhibit 3  Controlled Substances Fact Sheet 48 
Exhibit 4  Alcohol Misuse Fact Sheet 49 
Exhibit 5  Drug and Alcohol Testing Providers 50 
 
Adopted by the BART Board of Directors, May 25, 2006. 
 
 







 


   
                  Note:  Italics reflect provisions of BART policy and procedures that 
                           are not required by federal law. 
 
Adopted May 2006    


 16  


APPENDIX A 
 


Collection and Testing Procedures -- General 
 
1.0 Basic Test Process Standard.  Testing and collection will be conducted in a manner which 


assures a high degree of accuracy, integrity, and reliability, using techniques, equipment, and 
laboratory facilities which have been approved by the U.S. Department of Health and Human 
Services (DHHS). Testing for prohibited drugs and alcohol will be conducted in accordance 
with the procedures set forth in 49 CFR Part 40. Federal urine and breath forms will be used. 


 


2.0 Notification of Testing. Before administering a drug or alcohol test, BART will inform and 
notify employees that a urine sample will be tested for prohibited drugs as required under the 
DOT regulations, and that a breath sample will be tested for the presence of alcohol in excess 
of limits established by Federal regulations (49 CFR Part 40). Employees will be given a 
copy of these Testing Procedures.  


 
3.0 Testing Process 


3.1 Urine Drug Testing.  Tests conducted are analytical tests of urine for prohibited drug 
use as required by Federal regulations. Testing will be done in compliance with Federal 
regulations to ensure the integrity of the sample. Strict chain of custody procedures will 
be followed.  An initial urine drug screen will be conducted on each primary specimen; 
for those specimens that are not negative, a confirmatory Gas Chromatography 
(GC/MS) test will be performed.  


 
3.2 Breath Alcohol Testing.  Tests for alcohol concentration are breath samples and will 


be conducted with a National Highway Traffic Safety Administration (NHTSA) 
approved evidential breath-testing device (EBT), operated by a trained  Breath Alcohol 
Technician (BAT).  A BAT is an individual who is trained to operate an approved 
Evidential Breath Testing device (EBT).  Testing will be  done in compliance 
with Federal regulations to ensure the integrity of the sample. 


 
3.2.1 If the initial test indicates an alcohol concentration of 0.02 or greater, a second 


confirmatory test will be performed to confirm the results of the initial test. A 
positive breath alcohol test is one that results in an alcohol concentration of 0.04 
or greater on a confirmatory test. If the initial test is above 0.02, but the 
confirmatory test is below 0.02, the employee will be allowed to return to work. 


 
3.2.2 If the employee tests between 0.02 and 0.039 on a confirmed breath alcohol test, 


he/she shall not be permitted to resume safety sensitive duties until retested with 
an alcohol concentration of less than 0.02 or until a minimum of eight (8) hours 
have elapsed.  The employee shall be in a non-pay status for the eight (8) hour 
period of non-availability.   







 


   
                  Note:  Italics reflect provisions of BART policy and procedures that 
                           are not required by federal law. 
 
Adopted May 2006    


 17  


3.2.3 An alcohol concentration of 0.04 or greater on a confirmation test is considered 
a positive alcohol test and is a violation of Federal regulations. An employee 
testing with a concentration of 0.04 or greater will be  removed from duty and 
referred to the SAP.    


 
 
4.0 Medical Review Officer (MRO) 
 


4.1 All drug testing results will be interpreted by and evaluated by a Medical Review 
Officer (MRO).  The MRO is integral to the integrity of the testing process and these 
procedures are meant to protect the employee and ensure the integrity of the testing.  


 
4.2 The MRO will evaluate and interpret the confirmed positive drug test result in 


conjunction with an employee's medical history, and any other relevant biomedical 
information. The MRO is obligated to contact the employee to evaluate whether there is 
a legitimate medical explanation for the result, including legally prescribed medication, 
before making a determination as to whether a result is consistent with prohibited drug 
use. Once having done so, the MRO decides if the positive test is a verified positive. If 
the employee provides an adequate explanation, the MRO verifies the test as negative 
and takes no further action.  


 
4.3 In the event of a positive drug test result, the MRO is obligated to contact the employee 


and offer him/her the opportunity to discuss the test result. The MRO must make 
reasonable attempts to reach the employee at the day and evening telephone numbers 
listed on the Chain of Custody and Control form (CCF).  Reasonable efforts include, at 
a minimum, three attempts spaced reasonably over a 24-hour period, to reach the 
employee at the day and evening telephone numbers listed on the CCF. If the MRO is 
unable to reach the employee, the MRO will contact BART's Designated Employer 
Representative (DER) and ask the DER to contact the employee.  


 
4.4 The DER will attempt to contact the employee immediately. If the DER is unable to 


contact the employee directly through reasonable efforts as defined in 4.3 above, the 
DER may leave a message for the employee.  Upon successful contact, the DER will 
advise the employee that he/she must contact the MRO immediately and that failure to 
do so within 72 hours will be considered a positive test result.  


 
4.5 If unable to contact the employee within 10 days of the MRO's receipt of the positive 


test result from the lab, the test will be considered a positive test, and the employee will 
be removed from duty.  In such a case, the employee has 60 days from the date of the 
MRO’s verification to document that serious illness, injury, or other circumstances 
precluded timely contact with the MRO and/or DER.  


 







 


   
                  Note:  Italics reflect provisions of BART policy and procedures that 
                           are not required by federal law. 
 
Adopted May 2006    


 18  


4.6 When the MRO reports the results of a verified positive test to the DER, the MRO will 
disclose the drug(s) for which there was a positive test. The MRO or SAP may only 
reveal the levels of a positive drug test result to, the employee, or the decision-maker in 
a lawsuit, grievance or other proceeding initiated by the employee and arising from a 
verified positive drug test.  If the MRO declares a drug test to be invalid for any reason, 
that test shall be considered canceled (neither positive nor negative), unless the MRO 
has required a re-collection.  


 


 
4.7 The MRO must report drug test results and medical information learned as part of the 


verification process to the DER and third parties (which include a physician or other 
health care provider responsible for determining the medical qualifications of the 
employee under an applicable DOT agency safety regulation, a SAP evaluating the 
employee as part of the return to duty process, a DOT agency, or the National 
Transportation Safety Board in the course of an accident investigation) without the 
employee's consent if he or she  determines in his/her reasonable medical judgment 
that:  


 
4.7.1 The information is likely to result in the employee being determined to be 


medically unqualified under an applicable DOT agency regulation or 
 
4.7.2 The information indicates that continued performance by the employee of 


his/her safety sensitive function is likely to pose a significant safety risk. 
 
5.0 Employee Specimen Collection Process: Urine Drug Testing 
 


5.1 Report to the specimen collection site immediately after notification to report. Failure 
to report for collection within a reasonable time, or refusal to cooperate with the 
collection process, will result in a determination of a refusal to provide a specimen. 


 
5.2 Show the collector an official photo identification card. 


 
5.3 Remove outer garments (retain wallet).  Empty pockets and display the items in them to 


the collection site personnel. 
 


5.4 Wash and dry hands  
 


5.5 Collector will provide a specimen container. 
 







 


   
                  Note:  Italics reflect provisions of BART policy and procedures that 
                           are not required by federal law. 
 
Adopted May 2006    


 19  


5.6  Proceed to the privacy enclosure and provide a specimen in the collection container. Do 
not flush the toilet.  At least 45 milliliters of urine are required for analysis. If an 
insufficient amount of urine is provided, the original specimen will be discarded and 
the applicant/employee will be provided with up to 40 ounces of fluids in three hours to 
provide another specimen. Do not tamper with the specimen or make substitutions. The 
specimen will be visually inspected for unusual color and sediment. 


 
5.7  If the employee/applicant is unable to provide an adequate amount of urine, the DER, 


after consulting with the MRO, shall direct him/her to obtain, from a licensed physician 
who is acceptable to the MRO, an evaluation concerning medical ability to provide an 
adequate amount of urine.  The evaluation shall be made as soon as is practical after the 
attempted urine test.  If the physician indicates that there was a valid medical reason for 
the inadequate amount of urine, the failure to provide an adequate amount of urine will 
not be considered a refusal.  If no valid medical reason is determined, the inadequate 
amount of urine must be considered a refusal to take the test. 


 
5.8 Provide the specimen under direct observation by an observer of the same gender when:  


5.8.1 The laboratory reported to the MRO that a specimen is invalid, and the MRO 
reported to you that there was not an adequate medical explanation for the result;  
5.8.2 The MRO reported to you that the original positive, adulterated, or substituted 
result had to be cancelled because the test of the split specimen could not be performed; 
or  


5.8.3 The laboratory reported to the MRO that the specimen was negative-dilute with a 
creatinine concentration greater than or equal to 2 mg/dL but less than or equal to 5 
mg/dL, and the MRO reported the specimen to you as negative-dilute and that a second 
collection must take place under direct observation (see §40.197(b)(1)). 


5.8.4 You are directed by the DER to do so; or  
5.8.5 You observed materials brought to the collection site or the employee's conduct       
clearly indicates an attempt to tamper with a specimen (see §§40.61(f)(5)(i) and 40.63(e)); 
or  
5.8.6 The temperature on the original specimen was out of range (see §40.65(b)(5)); or  
5.8.7 The original specimen appeared to have been tampered with (see §40.65(c)(1)). 


 5.8.8 There is a  invalid specimen without a valid medical explanation; 
5.8.9 A positive, adulterated, or substituted test result had to be cancelled because a test 


of the split sample could not be performed;   
 


5.9 The temperature of the specimen will be measured and must fall within an acceptable 
range. If the temperature falls outside the acceptable range, a new specimen must be 
provided while being directly observed by the collector.  


 
5.10 Give the specimen to the collector and watch the sealing and labeling of the bottles. 


The label will be preprinted with a unique specimen ID number. Initial the labels 
verifying that the specimen is yours 







 


   
                  Note:  Italics reflect provisions of BART policy and procedures that 
                           are not required by federal law. 
 
Adopted May 2006    


 20  


 
5.11 Applicant/employee may wish to note on the back of donor copy of the custody and 


control form any medications currently being used. This list may serve as a memory 
jogger in the event a Medical Review Officer calls to discuss the results of the test. 


 
5.12 The results of the laboratory analysis will be forwarded to the Medical Review Officer. 


If the results are negative, the MRO will notify the DER . If the laboratory confirms a 
positive result, the MRO will contact the applicant/employee at the telephone number 
provided to give the opportunity to discuss the test results and to submit information 
demonstrating authorized use of the drugs in question. 


 
5.13 All return-to-duty and follow-up testing must be directly observed. Except in the case 


of a new hire pre-employment test, an immediate re-collection will be required under 
direct observation by an observer of the same gender when: 


5.13.1 The laboratory reports a negative dilute specimen in the case of a pre-
employment or return-to-duty test and an MRO has directed a second 
collection under direct observation. 


5.13.2  The laboratory reports an invalid result and there is not a valid medical 
explanation;  


5.13.3 The laboratory’s test of the primary specimen is positive, adulterated, or 
substituted and had to be cancelled because the split specimen is unavailable 
for testing;  


 
5.13.4 The collector observed materials brought to the collection site with intent to 


alter the specimen, or the employee’s conduct clearly indicates an attempt to 
tamper with a specimen. 


 
5.13.5 It is apparent that the employee has tampered with the specimen; 
 
5.13.6 The temperature on the original specimen was out of range. 
 


     
 
  
    5.14     Recollection of a negative dilute specimen is required for pre-employment and  
                return to duty tests only and will not be under direct observation except as specified in  
                5.13 above. Provided, however, that if the MRO directs the collector to conduct a  
                recollection under direct observation under § 40.197(b)(1), the collector must 
                immediately do so. 


 







 


   
                  Note:  Italics reflect provisions of BART policy and procedures that 
                           are not required by federal law. 
 
Adopted May 2006    


 21  


         5.14.1    If the result of the recollection the employee was directed to take under    
                     40.197(b)(1) is also negative and dilute, the employee is not required to take 


  An additional test because the result was dilute.  
 


         5.14.2    If the result of the recollection the employee was directed to take under 
                                 40.197(b)(2) is also negative and dilute, the employee is not required to take 
                                 an additional test because the result was dilute.  
 


 


6.0 Employee Specimen Collection Process:  Breath Alcohol Testing  
 


6.1 Report to the collection site immediately after notification to report. Failure to report 
for collection within a reasonable time, or refusal to cooperate with the collection 
process, will result in a determination of a refusal to provide a specimen.  


 
6.2 Show the collection site personnel a photo identification card.  


 
6.3 After the testing procedures are explained, the BAT will complete step 1 of the ATF 


and ask the applicant/employee to read, sign and date step 2. The BAT will inform the 
employee/applicant of the need to conduct a screening test. The BAT must open an 
individually sealed, disposable mouthpiece in view and attach it to the Evidential 
Breath Testing Device (EBT).  


 
6.4 The BAT will instruct the applicant/employee to blow forcefully into the mouthpiece 


for at least six seconds or until an adequate amount of breath has been obtained. 
Following the screening test, the BAT must show you the result displayed on the EBT 
and the printed result.  


 
 6.5  If the result of the screening test is an alcohol concentration of less than 0.02, no further 


testing is required.  The BAT will complete step 3, sign, date, and distribute copy 1 to 
the DER, copy 2 to the applicant/employee, and retain copy 3. The test will be reported 
to the DER as a negative test. In the case of an employee test, the employee may then 
return to his/her safety sensitive position.  


 
 6.6  If the result of the screening test is an alcohol concentration of 0.02 or greater, a 


confirmation test must be performed. The confirmation test must be conducted between 
15 and 30 minutes after the completion of the screening test. This waiting period 
prevents any accumulation of alcohol in the mouth from leading to an artificially high 
reading. The employee/applicant will be required to remain under observation during 
the waiting period.  


 
 6.7  The BAT will inform the employee/applicant of the need for a confirmation test. 


He/she will be instructed not to eat, drink or put any object or substance in the mouth. 







 


   
                  Note:  Italics reflect provisions of BART policy and procedures that 
                           are not required by federal law. 
 
Adopted May 2006    


 22  


The BAT will also instruct the employee/applicant not to belch to the extent possible 
while awaiting the confirmation test.  


 
 6.8 Before the confirmation test is administered, the BAT shall conduct an airblank on the 


EBT. The confirmation test is conducted using the same procedures as the screening 
test. A new mouthpiece will be used.  


 
 6.9  If the initial and confirmatory test results are not identical, the confirmation test result is 


deemed to be the final result.  
 


 6.10  If the screening or confirmation test result displayed on the EBT is not the same as that 
on the printed form, the test will be cancelled, and the EBT removed from service.  


 
 6.11  The BAT will complete step 3.  If the results are 0.02 or greater, the BAT will ask the 


employee/applicant to read, sign and date the certification statement (Step 4) on the 
ATF.  The BAT will distribute copies as provided in subsection 6.5 of this section.  The 
BAT will transmit all results to the DER in a confidential manner. If the 
employee/applicant must be removed from safety sensitive duties, the BAT will notify 
the DER immediately.  BART will provide transportation home for any employee who 
has a confirmed breath alcohol test reading of 0.04 or greater.   


 
6.12    If a screening or confirmatory test cannot be completed, the BAT must, if practicable,   
begin a new test using a new alcohol testing form with a new sequential test number.  


 
 6.13  Refusal to complete and sign step 2 of the alcohol testing form, to provide an adequate 


amount of breath, or otherwise to cooperate with the collection process must be noted 
on the form and the test will be terminated and the DER immediately notified.  


  
6.14  If the employee/applicant is unable to provide an adequate amount of breath, the DER 


shall direct him/her to obtain, from a licensed physician who is acceptable to BART, an 
evaluation concerning medical ability to provide an adequate amount of breath. The 
evaluation shall be made as soon as practical after the attempted breath test. If the 
physician indicates that there was a valid medical reason for the inadequate amount of 
breath, the failure to provide an adequate amount of breath will not be considered a 
refusal. If no valid medical reason is determined, the inadequate amount of breath must 
be considered a refusal to take the test.  


 
7.0   Refusal to Submit to Testing  
 


  7.1   Refusal to submit to a drug or alcohol test has the same or similar consequences to 
receiving a verified positive test result.  Any   covered employee who refuses to submit 
to an alcohol or drug test will be prohibited from performing or continuing to perform a 
safety sensitive function.  







 


   
                  Note:  Italics reflect provisions of BART policy and procedures that 
                           are not required by federal law. 
 
Adopted May 2006    


 23  


 
  7.2   The following situations, as further detailed in Parts 40.191 & 261 and Part 655.44 


constitute a refusal to submit to testing under DOT requirements (a refusal of any non-
DOT requirement with respect to either drug or alcohol testing does not constitute 
refusal to take a DOT test):  


 
7.2.1    Failure to appear at the collection facility within a reasonable time (except for 


pre-employment tests);   
 
7.2.2 Leaving the collection facility prior to test completion (for all but pre- 


employment, who may leave if the test has not been started); 
 
7.2.3    Failure to provide a specimen without adequate medical explanation for 


failure;  
 
7.2.4    Failure to permit the observation or monitoring of your provision of a 


specimen when required by federal regulations; 
 
7.2.5      Failure to undergo a medical examination when required by Federal 


regulations; 
 
7.2.6    Failing to complete and sign Step 2 of the ATF;  
 
7.2.7    Failure to take a second test as directed by the collector or employer or DER 


pursuant to federal regulations; 
 
7.2.8    Failing to provide adequate breath for an alcohol test without a valid medical 


explanation; 
 
7.2.9 Failing to provide an adequate urine sample for drug testing without a valid 


medical explanation; 
 
7.2.10   The verification by the MRO of a test as adulterated or substituted is a refusal; 
 
7.2.11 Failure to cooperate with any part of the testing process; 
 
7.2.12 Failing to remain “readily available” for testing, including notifying BART of 


your location if you leave the scene of the accident except for the period 
necessary to obtain necessary emergency medical care or resolve an accident). 


 
7.2.13 For an observed collection, failing to follow an observer’s instructions to raise 


clothing above the waist, lower clothing and underpants, and to turn around to 
permit an observer to determine if there is any type of prosthetic or other 
device that could be used to interfere with the collection; 







 


   
                  Note:  Italics reflect provisions of BART policy and procedures that 
                           are not required by federal law. 
 
Adopted May 2006    


 24  


 
7.2.14   Possessing or wearing a prosthetic or other device that could be used to 


interfere with the collection process; 
 
7.2.15 Admitting to the collector or MRO that the specimen is adulterated or 


substituted. 
 


  8.0  Positive Drug and Alcohol Test Results   
 


 8.1  Under Federal regulations, only the Medical Review Officer (MRO) can determine 
whether a confirmed positive is a verified positive drug test. Failure to contact the 
MRO in a timely manner so that the MRO can complete the verification process is 
considered a refusal to test. An employee with a verified positive drug or alcohol test 
will be removed from duty.  


 
 8.2    A positive drug test result is determined by the "minimum test levels" (confirmed by gas 


chromatography/mass spectrometry). A confirmed positive drug test is one that meets 
or exceeds the minimum threshold levels established under the Federal regulations for 
the prohibited substances (Exhibit 2), or that is determined to be substituted or 
adulterated.  A positive alcohol test is a confirmed result of 0.04 or greater.   


 
       8.3 In addition, a refusal to test as described in 7.0 above, including circumstances 
 described in 7.2, constitutes a positive test result. 


 
 8.4    All employees, with verified positive results above the drug cut-off levels, or at or above 


0.04 for alcohol, will be referred to a Substance Abuse Professional for evaluation and 
assessment.  


 
9.0     Split Sample Testing:  Employee Must Request Within 72 Hours 


 
  9.1     Each sample will be split into a primary and split sample. The samples will be sent 


under seal, with required chain of custody forms, to a laboratory approved by the 
Department of Health and Human Services (DHSS).  


 
 9.2      An employee who questions the results of a drug test may request that an additional test 


be conducted. This test of the second portion of the split sample must be conducted at a 
different laboratory than the laboratory that tested the original sample. This option is 
not available for breath alcohol testing.  


 
 9.3      The request for an additional test must be made within 72 hours of being informed by 


the Medical Review Officer (MRO) of a verified positive, adulterated or substituted 
drug test. You may present the MRO with documentation that serious injury, illness, 
lack of actual notice of the verified test result, inability to contact the MRO (e.g. there 







 


   
                  Note:  Italics reflect provisions of BART policy and procedures that 
                           are not required by federal law. 
 
Adopted May 2006    


 25  


was no one in the MRO's office and the answering machine was not working), or other 
circumstances unavoidably prevented you from making a timely request.  


 
 9.4      If the result of the test of the primary specimen is positive, substituted, or adulterated, 


the primary and split samples will be retained by the laboratory in frozen storage for at 
least one year.  


 
 9.5      If the analysis of the split specimen: 


 
 9.5.1 Fails to reconfirm the presence of the drug or drug metabolite, substitution or    


adulteration found in the primary specimen, or  
 
9.5.2 If the split specimen is unavailable, inadequate for testing, or untestable,  


 
 9.5.3    The MRO must cancel the test, declare it invalid, and report the   
  cancellation and the reasons for it to the Department of Transportation, the  
  DER at BART, and to the employee.  
 


 9.6       A canceled test is neither a positive nor a negative test. If the split sample cannot be      
       re-tested, the employee must immediately be sent for a re-test under direct         
       observation.  


 
 9.7      A split sample test requested by the employee with a positive test result will be paid for 


by the employee. An invalid or negative test will be paid for by BART  
 


10.0     Collection and Testing Procedures -- Post-Accident Testing  
 


10.1  Upon the occurrence of an accident that may result in Post-Accident testing, the 
supervisor responding to the incident shall promptly notify the Operations Control 
Center of the event and request that the Operations Control Center notify the union that 
represents the employee potentially subject to testing.  The Unions shall keep all 
Central Control shift supervisors aware in writing of their current emergency contact 
information. 


 
10.2 The FTA regulations require testing for prohibited drugs and alcohol in case of certain 


mass transit accidents for safety sensitive employees. Post-Accident Testing will be 
required when a safety sensitive employee is operating a BART revenue service or 
ancillary vehicle at the time of an accident and:  


 
 10.2.1  The accident results in a fatality, in which case testing is mandatory, 


regardless of the circumstances. All surviving covered employees operating 
the mass transit vehicle at the time of the accident and all other covered 
employees whose performance cannot be completely discounted as having 







 


   
                  Note:  Italics reflect provisions of BART policy and procedures that 
                           are not required by federal law. 
 
Adopted May 2006    


 26  


contributed to the accident will be tested. 
 


 10.2.2 The accident results in injuries to any person which requires immediate 
medical treatment away from the scene of an accident.  


 
 10.2.3  With respect to an occurrence in which the mass transit vehicle involved is a 


bus, electric bus, van or automobile, one or more vehicles (including non-
FTA funded vehicles) incurs disabling damage as a result of the occurrence 
and such vehicle or vehicles are transported away from the scene by a tow 
truck or other vehicle. Disabling damage means damage that precludes 
departure of a motor vehicle from the scene of the accident in its usual 
manner in daylight after simple repairs. This includes damage to a motor 
vehicle where the vehicle could have been driven but would have been 
further damaged if so driven. This excludes damage that can be remedied 
temporarily at the scene of the accident without special tools or parts; tire 
disablement without other damage even if no spare tire is available; 
headlamp or tail light damage; and damage to turn signals, horn  or 
windshield wipers, which makes the vehicle inoperable.  


 
10.2.4 With respect to an occurrence in which the mass transit vehicle involved is a 


rail car, trolley car, trolley bus or vessel, the mass transit vehicle is removed 
from service for reasons other than evaluating damage, investigating the 
incident or for routine maintenance. 


 
10.3 Testing will include all employees whose performance cannot be completely 


discounted as a contributing factor to the accident based on the best information 
available at the time of the decision. 


  
10.4 The first operations/appropriate supervisor at the site of an accident or occurrence 


involving a mass transit vehicle, whether or not it is in revenue service, upon arrival 
will:  


 
 10.4.1 Ensure that all injured people, e.g., employees, passengers, pedestrians, etc., 


 receive proper medical care.  
 


10.4.2 Subject to section D.3 (Union Representation) of this Policy, take aside the 
vehicle operator and any other involved safety sensitive employee not in need 
of medical treatment as a first priority, to talk with the employee(s) in private 
to determine if he/she/they may have contributed in any way to the accident.  
The supervisor will also give a direct order to the employee(s) to stand by at 
the site until it has been determined whether the accident or occurrence is one 
which requires a post-accident drug/alcohol test.  


 
10.4.3 Determine whether the accident meets FTA criteria, and complete the 







 


   
                  Note:  Italics reflect provisions of BART policy and procedures that 
                           are not required by federal law. 
 
Adopted May 2006    


 27  


appropriate observation/incident report. The decision to test is made by the 
first on-scene operations/ appropriate supervisor, and will not subsequently 
be overruled. 


   
10.4.4 If the decision is made not to test, the employee will be asked to return to 


work if he/she is determined to be fit to do so.   
 


10.4.5 If the decision is made to test, the employee(s) will be so informed and the 
supervisor will read the post-accident testing instructions to the employee.  
Employees are to be advised that the failure to submit to the test will be cause 
for discipline in accordance with the disciplinary guidelines in Appendix C.  
Employees will also be informed of their right to request a union 
representative; however, the testing process cannot be delayed to await the 
representative’s arrival.  Post-accident testing may be stayed as necessary for 
the employee’s own emergency medical treatment, or in order that the 
employee can obtain assistance in responding to the accident. 


 
10.5  The operations/appropriate supervisor will ensure that the employee(s) is tested as soon 


as is practicable. The tests should be performed within two hours of the accident. If 
tests are not performed within two hours, the DER must document the reasons why the 
test was not performed, but should continue efforts to complete the tests(s).  If an 
alcohol test cannot be administered within eight hours, and/or a drug test cannot be 
administered within 32 hours, efforts to conduct a post-accident drug test must cease. 
The DER shall document why the test was not conducted. 
 


10.6 The employee who may be subject to be tested shall remain readily available for 
alcohol testing up to eight hours post-accident and for drug testing up to thirty-two 
hours after the accident, including notifying his/her supervisor of his/her location, or 
he/she may be deemed to have refused to submit to testing.  He/she is prohibited from 
using alcohol and prohibited drugs during this period of availability. 


 
10.7 If the employee who is required to be tested is injured and needs medical treatment, 


provisions shall be made to perform the alcohol test within eight hours and a drug test 
within thirty-two hours of the accident. 


 
10.8 If the employee is injured and needs medical treatment, the employee shall be 


transported to a nearby medical facility for treatment. Emergency medical treatment for 
an injured employee is not to be delayed for drug or alcohol testing.  The ESR will 
dispatch the collector to the medical treatment facility to conduct drug and alcohol 
testing once the employee has received the necessary medical treatment. 


 
10.9 The employee shall be removed from work pending the results of a drug/alcohol test.  If 


the result of the drug and alcohol test is negative, the employee will be returned to his 
or her safety sensitive position. 







 


   
                  Note:  Italics reflect provisions of BART policy and procedures that 
                           are not required by federal law. 
 
Adopted May 2006    


 28  


 
10.10 The employee will be placed on administrative leave with pay until the District receives 


the alcohol/drug test results.  If both tests are negative, the District will make the 
employee whole. 


 
10.11 If the employee tests between 0.02 and 0.039 on a confirmed breath alcohol test, he/she 


shall not be permitted to resume safety sensitive duties until retested with an alcohol 
concentration of less than 0.02 or until a minimum of eight (8) hours have elapsed.  The 
employee shall be in a non-pay status for the eight (8) hour period of non-availability. 


 
10.12 The employee will be transported home following a Reasonable Suspicion or Post 


Accident test. 
 


10.13 If the employee refuses to be tested, fails to remain readily available to be tested, or if 
the test is verified positive, the employee shall be referred to the SAP.  


 







 


   
                  Note:  Italics reflect provisions of BART policy and procedures that 
                           are not required by federal law. 
 
Adopted May 2006    


 29  


10.14 The employee has 72 hours to request a test of the split sample if the initial drug test is 
positive.  


 
10.15 If BART is unable to test the employee within the required timeframe, and the 


employee has been tested by Federal, State, or local officials having independent 
authority to test the employee, BART may use the results of such a test in lieu of its 
own post-accident test. 


 
10.16 The employee will be placed on administrative leave with pay until the District receives 


the alcohol/drug test results.  If both tests are negative, the District will make the 
employee whole. 


 
10.17 Confidentiality considerations in post-accident testing are as follows.  The first on-


scene appropriate supervisor shall call Central to notify the ESR and the employee’s 
union, if any, that a post-accident test is being ordered, but shall not identify the 
employee(s) by name.  


 
10.18 After receiving the test results, the ESR will inform the Department Head of the 


employee’s work status, i.e., released to return to work or not released to return to 
work, etc.  Upon the employee’s return to work following negative test results, the ESR 
shall notify the Department Head that the employee is to be made whole, but shall not 
at any time discuss the details surrounding this circumstance.  


11.0 Collection and Testing Procedures -- Reasonable Suspicion Testing 


11.1 Reasonable Suspicion referral for testing must made by one or more trained supervisors 
or other officials based on specific, contemporaneous, articulable observations 
concerning the appearance, behavior, speech or body odors of the covered employee. 
Observations must be made and documented.  Reasonable suspicion alcohol tests under 
Federal authority are permissible only while the employee is performing safety 
sensitive functions, just before the employee is to perform safety sensitive functions, or  
just after the employee has ceased performing safety sensitive functions. 


 
11.2 A supervisor(s), or other District official(s) who is trained in detecting the signs and 


symptoms of drug use and alcohol misuse, must make the required observations. 
 







 


   
                  Note:  Italics reflect provisions of BART policy and procedures that 
                           are not required by federal law. 
 
Adopted May 2006    


 30  


11.3 A decision to test on the basis of reasonable suspicion is to be based on specific 
personal and independent observations of two supervisors, unless only one supervisor 
is practically available.  The required observations for reasonable suspicion must be 
made by a supervisor who is trained in detecting signs and symptoms of drug/alcohol 
use. Supervisors will receive at least two hours of training by Employee Services on the 
determination of symptoms of drug abuse and alcohol misuse (one hour for alcohol and 
one hour for drugs), and including procedures for dealing with employees suspected of 
drug use and alcohol misuse. 


 
11.4 Suspicion is not reasonable, and thus not a basis for testing if it is based solely on the 


observations and reports of third parties or violation of a safety rule or other unsafe 
work incident.  However, such suspicion may be a basis for further investigation, or for 
action to protect the safety of patrons, such as ordering the employee to stop work. 


 
11.5 The FTA regulations require a safety sensitive employee to submit to testing when the 


employer has a reasonable suspicion that the employee has used a prohibited drug or 
has misused alcohol as defined in the regulations.  


 
11.6  If a supervisor observes behavior that might be indicative of drug use and/or alcohol 


misuse, he/she directs the employee to stop work and escorts the employee to an area to 
be observed in private. The first supervisor shall obtain a second supervisor, from a 
department other than police unless the testing involves a police officer, for the purpose 
of observing and evaluating the employee’s behavior.  If the second supervisor is not 
practically available, the first on-scene supervisor will continue with procedures as 
outlined below. 


 
11.6.1 The supervisor(s) independently completes the "Substance Abuse Observation/ 


Incident Report", and the two supervisors compare their reports.  If the first 
supervisor and the second supervisor do not agree, the first supervisor makes 
the decision to test or not. 


 
11.6.2 If the decision is made not to test, the employee returns to work in accordance 


with the supervisor’s determination that he/she is fit to do so.  This action will 
be documented on the Observation/Incident Report and forwarded to the 
Employee Services Representative and the Department Head. 


 
11.6.3  If there is a decision to test based on observable symptoms, the employee is 


ordered to submit to a drug and/or alcohol test and informed of the reason for 
the decision.  If the employee is represented, he/she is advised of his/her right 
to request a union representative. Requests for union representation will not 
delay testing, per section 40.61(b). 


 







 


   
                  Note:  Italics reflect provisions of BART policy and procedures that 
                           are not required by federal law. 
 
Adopted May 2006    


 31  


11.6.4 An employee who is to be tested for drugs and/or alcohol in a reasonable 
suspicion test under this program will be informed of the availability of 
rehabilitation, at the employee’s expense, if the employee admits to drug 
and/or alcohol use prior to the test, and  if the employee is eligible as 
described in Appendix B.  The employee will also be informed that his/her 
acknowledgement of drug or alcohol use will not relieve the District of its 
duty to test and to otherwise comply with applicable Federal requirements.  
Any employee who admits to drug or alcohol use prior to testing will be 
required to submit to an evaluation by a Substance Abuse Counselor (SAC) 
and will be required to comply with any treatment recommendations made by 
the SAC.  If the test result is negative, pending the SAC’s recommendation, the 
employee may be returned to duty and the District will make the employee 
whole. 


 
11.6.5 The decision to test should be made within two hours of the first supervisor’s 


decision to consider whether reasonable suspicion testing is warranted, and 
the breath alcohol test must be conducted within two hours following the 
decision to test.  If the test is not conducted within the required two hours, a 
detailed explanation must be submitted to the DER.   If the test is not 
completed within eight (8) hours, it is abandoned and a detailed explanation 
must be submitted to the DER. 


 
11.6.6 Once a decision has been made to test, the supervisor must ensure that the 


employee does not continue to operate in a safety sensitive job.  
 


11.6.7 The supervisor shall call the Operations Control Center to notify the ESR and 
the employee’s union, if any, that a Reasonable Suspicion test is being 
requested, but shall not identify the employee(s) by name.  The supervisor will 
read the Reasonable Suspicion testing instructions to the employee. The 
supervisor(s) are to keep the employee in sight at all times until the collection 
has begun.  


 
11.6.8  The employee shall be in paid status until the test collection is completed.  


Thereafter, he/she will be placed on administrative leave with pay and 
relieved from work until the District receives the drug test results.   If the drug 
and alcohol tests are negative, the employee will be made whole.     


 
11.6.9     The employee may not perform safety sensitive duties pending the outcome of 


the drug test.  Since the employee is believed to be under the influence of 
drugs and/or alcohol, arrangements will be made to have him/her transported 
home.  


 







 


   
                  Note:  Italics reflect provisions of BART policy and procedures that 
                           are not required by federal law. 
 
Adopted May 2006    


 32  


11.6.10  If the employee tests between 0.02 and 0.039 on a confirmed breath alcohol 
test, he/she shall not be permitted to resume safety sensitive duties until 
retested with an alcohol concentration of less than 0.02 or until a minimum of 
eight (8) hours have elapsed.  The employee shall be in a non-pay status for 
the eight (8) hour period of non-availability  


 
11.6.11  If there is a confirmed positive breath alcohol test (0.04 or above) and/or a 


verified positive drug test, the employee will be directed to the Substance 
Abuse Professional for an evaluation and referral for rehabilitation if eligible, 
as described in Appendix B.. 


 
11.6.12 If the drug test is determined to be positive, substituted, or adulterated, the  


 employee has 72 hours to request testing of the split sample.  If the test is 
 verified positive, substituted or adulterated, the employee is then referred to 
 the SAP for an evaluation and treatment recommendation. 
 


11.6.13   The employee cannot return to work until the ESR releases the employee. 
(See “Return to Work” in Appendix C.) 


 
11.6.14   The ESR will inform the Department Head of the employee’s work status, i. 


e., released to return to work or not released to return to work, etc.  Upon the 
employee’s return to work following negative test results, the Employee 
Services Representative shall notify the Department Head that the employee is 
to be made whole for any lost pay, but shall not at any time discuss the details 
surrounding this circumstance.  


 


12.0    Collection and Testing Procedures -- Pre-Employment Testing 


 
 12.1 General.  All individuals assigned to safety sensitive positions shall undergo drug and


 alcohol testing prior to the first performance of safety sensitive functions.   
 


12.2   New Hires 
 


 12.2.1 Applicants may not be hired or assigned to a safety sensitive position unless 
 they pass a Pre-Employment drug and alcohol test.   


 
  







 


   
                  Note:  Italics reflect provisions of BART policy and procedures that 
                           are not required by federal law. 
 
Adopted May 2006    


 33  


12.2.2  The Human Resources Department will assure that all job applications, 
 notices, and announcements for safety sensitive job positions contain the 
 following wording:  


 
"In accordance with federal requirements, all job applicants selected 
for appointments for this safety sensitive position are subject to pre-
employment drug and alcohol testing. A final job applicant will be 
tested for prohibited drugs: Cocaine, PCP, Amphetamines, MDMA 
(Ecstasy), Marijuana and Opiates. During employment, employees 
holding safety sensitive positions are subject to pre-employment 
(return from leave/resumption of safety sensitive functions), random, 
reasonable suspicion, post-accident, return-to-duty, and follow-up 
drug and alcohol testing." 


 
12.2.3 After the conditional offer of employment is made, the Employment Unit of the 


Human Resources Department requests drug and alcohol testing along with 
medical and physical examinations for those safety sensitive final job 
applicants who pass all job testing requirements and are otherwise eligible 
for employment.  


 
 12.2.4 The Human Resources Department will set up the drug testing appointments. 


 
 12.2.5  It is the responsibility of the applicant to report to the collection site at the 


 time and day scheduled, and to complete all necessary forms.  
 


 12.2.6 All Pre-Employment drug and alcohol testing will be conducted in 
 accordance with the general procedures described above.  


 
12.2.7  The DER will be notified of all test results and these results will be 


immediately transmitted to the Human Resources Department, which will 
proceed with the indicated course of action.  


 
 12.2.8  Applicants who test positive for drugs or alcohol are eligible to re-apply for a


 safety sensitive job following the lapse of 6 months.  
 


 12.2.9 A final job applicant whose Pre-Employment test results are negative will  
 continue through the safety sensitive hiring or job assignment process.  


    
           12.3 Transfers of Employees into Safety Sensitive Positions 
 
  12.3.1  Pre-employment testing must occur for all existing employees being moved  


  into a safety sensitive position, including to a temporary assignment position 
 


  







 


   
                  Note:  Italics reflect provisions of BART policy and procedures that 
                           are not required by federal law. 
 
Adopted May 2006    


 34  


12.3.2 An employee who is being considered for transfer to a safety sensitive  
 position from a non-safety sensitive position will be required to undergo  
 drug and alcohol testing.  


 
 12.3.3   Negative drug test results and alcohol test results below 0.02 are required  


  prior to the performance of safety sensitive duties. A cancelled drug test  
  requires a re-collection. 


 
12.3.4   An employee who is to be tested for drugs and/or alcohol in a pre-employment 


transfer test under this program will be informed of the availability of 
rehabilitation, at the employee’s expense, if the employee admits to drug 
and/or alcohol use prior to the test, and  if the employee is eligible as 
described in Appendix B.  The employee will also be informed that his/her 
acknowledgement of drug or alcohol use will not relieve the  District of its 
duty to test and to otherwise comply with applicable Federal requirements.  
Any employee who admits to drug or alcohol use prior to  testing will be 
required to submit to an evaluation by the SAC and will be  required to 
comply with any treatment recommendations made by the SAC.  If the test 
result is negative, pending the SAC’s recommendation, the employee may be 
returned to duty and the District will make the employee whole. 


 
12.3.5 If the employee tests between 0.02 and 0.039 on a confirmed breath alcohol 


test, he/she shall not be permitted to resume safety sensitive duties until re-
tested with an alcohol concentration of less than 0.02 or until a minimum of 
eight (8) hours have elapsed.  The employee shall be in a non-pay status for 
the eight (8) hour period of non-availability. 


  
 12.3.6    An employee with a verified positive drug and/or alcohol test will be referred 
  to the SAP.  
 


 12.3.7  All Pre-Employment drug and alcohol testing will be conducted in   
 accordance with the general procedures described above.  


 
12. 4    Return From Leave/Resumption of Safety sensitive Functions 


 
 12.4.1 When a safety sensitive employee has not performed safety sensitive functions 


for 90 consecutive calendar days, regardless of the reason, and the employee 
has not been in the random pool during that time, the employee shall take and 
pass Pre-Employment (return from leave / resumption of safety sensitive 
duties) drug and alcohol tests prior to resuming safety sensitive functions.  


 
  







 


   
                  Note:  Italics reflect provisions of BART policy and procedures that 
                           are not required by federal law. 
 
Adopted May 2006    


 35  


12.4.2 An employee who tests positive for drugs and/or alcohol on a pre-employment 
(return-from-leave) test under this program will be referred to the SAP for 
evaluation and referral for self-paid rehabilitation, if indicated and if the 
employee is eligible, as described in Appendix B. 


  
13.0   Collection and Testing Procedures -- Random Testing 


 
13.1    Employees in safety sensitive classifications are subject to unannounced, random drug 


and alcohol testing any time they are on duty. Testing is continuous throughout the 
year, and there is no period during which testing is halted. Testing is conducted on all 
days and hours during which safety sensitive duties are performed. Random alcohol 
testing conducted pursuant to federal authority may only be conducted just before, 
during or after the performance of a safety-sensitive function. 


13.2 Random testing for employees with qualifying child care commitments or qualifying 
medical appointments shall be carried out subject to the following additional 
provisions. 


13.2.1 Random tests shall be commenced at least three (3) hours before the end of the 
employee’s shift for employees who provide advance, verifiable notice of a 
scheduled medical or childcare commitment occurring immediately following the 
end of that shift.  This notice must be received by the Employee Services 
Representative (ESR) in writing, at least three (3) work days prior to the 
scheduled medical or childcare commitment, unless “exceptional 
circumstances” apply as defined below. 


 
13.2.2   The notice required in 13.2.1 above is to be provided by the employee, who 


must complete and submit to the ESR a form supplied by the District 
providing the following information: 


 
13.2.2.1 Nature of the commitment; 


 
13.2.2.2  Name, address and phone number of the medical or childcare 


provider; 
 


13.2.2.3  Date(s) and time(s) of the commitment; 
 


 13.2.2.4 A signed authorization permitting the District to verify the 
   commitment; 


 
13.2.2.5  Name(s) and age(s) of the child or children and their 


relationship to the employee, in the case of a childcare 
commitment; and13.2.2.6  Names and relationship 
of the family member to the employee, in the case of a medical 
commitment. 


 







 


   
                  Note:  Italics reflect provisions of BART policy and procedures that 
                           are not required by federal law. 
 
Adopted May 2006    


 36  


13.2.3   In addition to the foregoing requirements, a childcare commitment under 
this procedure must be one over which the employee has little, if any, 
control as to scheduling flexibility.  It must also pertain to a dependent child 
of sufficient relation to the employee to be eligible for District benefits.   


 
13.2.4 Medical commitments may pertain to the employee or “family members,” as 


defined by the Family and Medical Leave Act, provided the employee’s 
attendance is necessary to transport or escort family members or relieve a 
medical caretaker caring for the family member.  


 
13.2.5 Notices of recurring commitments must be resubmitted at least annually and 


notices of changes in commitment, unless “exceptional circumstances” 
apply, must be submitted at least 3 work days prior to the effective date of 
the change. 


 
13.2.6 The District may reject notices that do not comply with this subsection 13.2, 


or that unreasonably interfere with the availability of the employee for 
random testing.  If selected for testing, even if proper notice has been 
provided by the employee to the ESR, the test will not be cancelled and the 
employee must submit to testing. 


 
13.2.7 “Exceptional circumstances” for purposes of this subsection 13.2 arise 


when the employee has a medical appointment for a serious health condition 
or the employee’s assistance is necessary for a medical appointment or 
other urgent childcare matter for a family member, as defined above.  
However, such circumstances only arise if the appointment or obligation 
pertains to a serious health condition or childcare situation for which no 
viable alternative is available and for which the employee could not have 
reasonably scheduled in time to allow 3 days’ notice.  When these 
circumstances apply, the employee shall give the required notice to the ESR 
as soon as practicable, but not less than 24 hours prior to the scheduled 
commitment.  The district may require additional documentation 
substantiating the presence of exceptional circumstances, but will allow the 
employee 72 hours following the appointment to provide requested 
documentation 


 
13.3    Each safety sensitive employee shall have an equal chance at selection and will remain 


in the selection pool even after being tested.  Random selection shall be made by a 
scientifically valid, computerized random number generation method. An employee 
may be called for a drug test at any time while on duty, and an alcohol test while on 
duty and just before, during, or just after performance of safety sensitive duties.  


 
13.4    Employees will be notified of the test, and must proceed to the testing site immediately.  


Employees subject to random testing shall not be relieved from active service pending 







 


   
                  Note:  Italics reflect provisions of BART policy and procedures that 
                           are not required by federal law. 
 
Adopted May 2006    


 37  


the results of the testing, unless the alcohol test result is 0.02 or above.  
 


13.5  Random drug and alcohol testing applies only to safety sensitive employees.  
 


13.6  Once a list is generated, testing is then scheduled randomly throughout the month. No 
employee will be removed from the random pool following selection, and every 
employee will continue to be subject to selection throughout the year.  


 
13.7    Every employee in the random pool has an equal chance of being selected every time. 


Employees are only removed from the random pool when they are permanently 
transferred to a non-safety sensitive position, or on a leave of absence.  


 
13.8  Random testing will be conducted on all shifts, at all times of day and night, and all 


days of the week throughout the calendar year. No shift is exempt from testing.  
 


13.9  Currently, the total number of drug tests completed annually minimum twenty-five 
percent (25%) of the number of safety sensitive employees in the random pool 
(655.45(a)). The total number of alcohol tests completed each year must equal ten 
percent (10%) of the number of safety sensitive employees. This rate is subject to 
change by the FTA on an annual basis. 


 
13.10  Random drug testing may be conducted concurrently with random alcohol testing 


and/or at any time during an employee's shift. Random alcohol testing will be 
conducted just before the employee is scheduled to perform a safety sensitive function, 
while the employee is performing a safety sensitive function or just after the employee 
performs a safety sensitive function. The employee must proceed to the test site 
immediately after being notified that he or she has been selected for testing.  Testing 
will begin promptly when the collector is ready to perform the test.   


 
13.11  Supervisors will be notified when an employee has been selected for testing.  


 
13.12  Employees will be notified to stop work.  


 
13.13  The employee must submit to a drug and/or alcohol test. The employee will be advised 


that failure to cooperate with the collection procedure in any way constitutes a refusal 
to test, which is considered the same as a positive test result.  


 
13.14  The employee is in a paid status throughout random testing. If the results are positive, 


or if he/she refuses to test, employees will be removed from duty.   
 







 


   
                  Note:  Italics reflect provisions of BART policy and procedures that 
                           are not required by federal law. 
 
Adopted May 2006    


 38  


13.15  If both alcohol and drug tests are being given, the breath alcohol test will performed 
first. Immediately thereafter, the urine sample will be collected for the drug test.  


 
13.16  If the employee tests between 0.02 and 0.039 on a confirmed breath alcohol test, he/she 


shall not be permitted to resume safety sensitive duties until retested with an alcohol 
concentration of less than 0.02 or until a minimum of eight (8) hours have lapsed.  The 
employee shall be in a non-pay status for the eight (8) hour period of non-availability  


 
13.17  If there is a positive breath alcohol test (0.04 or above) and/or verified positive drug 


test, the employee will be removed from service and directed to the Substance Abuse 
Professional (SAP) for an evaluation and referral for rehabilitation, if eligible. The 
employee cannot return to work until he/she has been released by the SAP and has 
successfully completed a return-to-duty test.  


 
14.0 Random Testing Notification and Implementation  


 
14.1 The random test list will be generated on a monthly basis. 


 
14.2 Upon receipt of random testing notification the selected employee’s immediate 


supervisor will tactfully inform him/her that he/she has been selected for Random 
drug/alcohol testing.  The supervisor will read the employee a statement of his/her 
rights, and the employee will be given a direct order to go to the collection site. The 
employee will be advised that refusal to take the test, adulteration of the specimen or 
other non-cooperation will, as required by Federal regulations, has the same or similar 
consequences to receiving a verified positive test result. 


 
14.3 An employee who tests positive for drugs and/or alcohol for the first time on a random 


test under this program will be referred to the SAP for evaluation and referral for self-
paid rehabilitation, if indicated and if the employee is eligible. 


 
14.4 An employee who is to be tested for drugs and/or alcohol on a random test following an 


earlier positive random test under this program will be informed of the availability of 
rehabilitation, at the employee’s expense, if the employee admits to drug and/or alcohol 
use prior to the test, if the employee is eligible.  The employee will also be informed 
 that his/her acknowledgement of drug or alcohol use will not relieve the district of its 
duty to test and to otherwise comply with applicable Federal requirements.  Any 
employee who admits to drug or alcohol use prior to testing will be required to submit 
to an evaluation by the SAP and will be required to comply with any treatment 
 recommendations made by the SAP.  If the test result is negative, pending the SAP 
recommendation, the employee may be returned to duty and the District will make the 
employee whole. 


 







 


   
                  Note:  Italics reflect provisions of BART policy and procedures that 
                           are not required by federal law. 
 
Adopted May 2006    


 39  


14.5 Testing will proceed in accordance with the general procedures described above. 
 


14.6 If the employee tests between 0.02 and 0.039 on a confirmed breath alcohol test, he/she 
shall not be permitted to resume safety sensitive duties until retested with an alcohol 
concentration of less than 0.02 or until a minimum of eight (8) hours have elapsed.  The 
employee shall be in a non-pay status for the eight (8) hour period of non-availability. 


 
14.7 The results of each drug test will be reported in accordance with general procedures 


 above 
 


14.8 Actions following receipt of random test results: 


 


 14.8.1 Negative Drug Test:  An employee whose drug/alcohol test results are 


negative will continue performing his/her usual job duties without 


interruption.  


 


14.8.2 Verified Positive Drug Test: An employee who has a verified positive drug 


 test shall be immediately removed from duty.  
 


14.9 Following the collection, the employee will return to work unless there is a confirmed 
breath alcohol reading of 0.02 or greater.  


 
15.0     Collection and Testing Procedures -- Return to Duty and Follow-up Testing 


 
 15.1  The DOT 49 CFR PART 40 regulations require that, before any employee can be 


allowed to return to duty to perform a safety sensitive function following a verified 
positive drug test, a positive breath alcohol test, a refusal to submit to a test, or 
engaging in conduct prohibited by the regulations regarding alcohol misuse, the 
employee must first be evaluated by a Substance Abuse Professional (SAP) and pass 
the return-to-duty test required by the SAP.  


 
15.2 Return-to-duty testing will be done in the same manner as other DOT compliant tests, 
 and consistent with the general procedures described above in this Appendix. 


 
 15.3  When an employee is released to return to duty, he/she must first pass the drug and/or 


alcohol test.   
 


 15.4 The District Drug Testing Coordinator coordinate the employee's return-to-duty test.  
 


15.5 If the Return-to-Duty test is positive, the split sample can be re-analyzed at another 
DHSS certified lab, in accordance with general procedures as described above.  If the 
split sample is verified positive, the employee will not be returned to duty.  







 


   
                  Note:  Italics reflect provisions of BART policy and procedures that 
                           are not required by federal law. 
 
Adopted May 2006    


 40  


 
16.0   Follow-Up Testing  


 
16.1 When released by the DER to return to safety sensitive duties, an employee shall be 


subject to unannounced follow-up testing for at least 12 months (1 year) but not more 
than 60 months (5 years). The type, frequency and duration of the follow-up testing will 
be determined by the SAP; however, under DOT regulations, a minimum of six tests 
shall be performed during the first 12 months after the employee has returned to duty. 
Follow-up testing does not exclude an employee from the random testing program. This 
means that an employee is subject to random testing as well as follow-up testing.  


 
16.2  Follow-Up alcohol tests shall be performed either just before, during, or just after the 


employee performs a safety sensitive function.  
 


16.3  If any Follow-Up test is verified positive, the employee will be immediately removed 
from the safety sensitive position.  


 
16.4 If the employee tests between 0.02 and 0.039 on a confirmed breath alcohol test, he/she 


shall not be permitted to resume safety sensitive duties until retested with an alcohol 
concentration of less than 0.02 or until a minimum of eight (8) hours have elapsed.  The  
employee shall be in a non-pay status for the eight (8) hour period of non-availability. 







 


   
                  Note:  Italics reflect provisions of BART policy and procedures that 
                           are not required by federal law. 
 
Adopted May 2006    


 41  


APPENDIX B 
 


REHABILITATION 
 


1.0   Definition of Rehabilitation Program 
 
 1.1     A rehabilitation program is an opportunity for treatment related to drug or alcohol 


use which includes aftercare, and return-to-duty and follow-up testing. An 
employee who is eligible for rehabilitation in accordance with this Appendix B, and 
who requests and otherwise complies with the terms of rehabilitation will not be 
disciplined for violation of this policy so long as he/she remains in the 
rehabilitation program. 


 
  2.0  Two Opportunities.  An employee who is in a rehabilitation program or who has  
  completed two rehabilitation programs may not elect further rehabilitation under  
  this program. 


 
  3.0   District-Paid Voluntary Self-Referral  
 


3.1 An employee who has a drug and/or alcohol abuse problem and has not been selected for 
pre-employment (transfer and return from leave), reasonable suspicion, random or post-
accident testing can voluntarily refer him/herself to the District’s Substance Abuse 
Professional for treatment.  The SAP will evaluate the employee and make a specific 
determination of appropriate treatment.  The employee will be removed from performing 
his/her job pending the evaluation by the SAP. 
 


3.2 In the case of a voluntary, employee-initiated first or second-round referral not related to 
pre-employment (transfer and return from leave), reasonable suspicion or random testing, 
all direct costs of the Rehabilitation Program and of aftercare, including use of District-
provided insurance benefits, will be borne by the District.  The employee will remain in a 
full pay status during the evaluation and treatment program. 


 
 
4.0   Employee-Paid Rehabilitation Following Selection for Pre-Employment (transfer and return 


 from leave), Reasonable Suspicion, Random or Follow-Up Drug or Alcohol Testing.  
 


4.1 Eligibility. 
 


4.2 An employee who tests positive for drugs and/or alcohol on a pre-employment 
 (return from leave) or, for the first time, on a random test under this program will 
 be referred to the SAP for evaluation and referral for self-paid rehabilitation, if 
 indicated and if the employee is eligible. 







 


   
                  Note:  Italics reflect provisions of BART policy and procedures that 
                           are not required by federal law. 
 
Adopted May 2006    


 42  


 
4.3 An employee who is to be tested for drugs and/or alcohol on a pre-employment 


 (transfer), reasonable suspicion, or on a random test following an earlier positive 
 random test under this program will be informed of the availability of 
 rehabilitation, at the employee’s expense, if the employee admits to drug and/or 
 alcohol use prior to the test, if the employee is eligible. 


 
 
  4.4      Provided the employee is eligible, rehabilitation following selection for any form of drug  


  or alcohol testing will be paid by the employee.  The employee will be in a non-pay status 
  during any absence for evaluation or treatment, but is entitled to use accrued vacation  
  time and sick leave, as well as District provided insurance benefits, while participating in  
  the rehabilitation and aftercare programs.   


 
 


5.0     Rehabilitation Process 
 


 5.1    For both District-paid voluntary referral and employee-paid rehabilitation, the employee 
 will be evaluated by the SAC (P) for determination of the most appropriate treatment and a 
 referral to the selected rehabilitation program. 


 
5.2   The employee must sign an agreement to submit to all terms and conditions of 


 rehabilitation as a condition of continued employment. 
 
5.3 The employee will be placed in a medically supervised rehabilitation program, which 


 may include full in-patient hospital, residential care, day treatment or outpatient care, 
 provided by a District approved rehabilitation facility. 


 
5.4 If the SAC(P) certifies that the employee has successfully completed the rehabilitation 


program, during which time the employee will have been subject to announced and 
unannounced periodic drug and/or alcohol tests, the terms and conditions of the aftercare 
program will be determined on an individual case-by-case basis, and the employee will be 
required to sign a return-to-duty agreement acknowledging that he/she will abide by those 
terms and conditions. 


 
5.5 The return-to-duty agreement will stipulate that the employee will be subject to 


unannounced drug and alcohol tests the frequency and duration of which will be 
determined by the SAC(P). 


 
    5.6  If recommended by the ESR, the employee will be permitted to return to duty in his/her job


  classification during the aftercare or during any other outpatient program, providing the
 employee tested negative for drugs and alcohol in a Return-to-Duty test. 


 
 5.7 The employee must successfully adhere to the terms and conditions of the rehabilitation 


and aftercare programs. If the employee violates the terms and conditions of the 
rehabilitation or aftercare program, the employee will be subject to disciplinary action in 
accordance with the rehabilitation agreement, up to and including discharge. 







 


   
                  Note:  Italics reflect provisions of BART policy and procedures that 
                           are not required by federal law. 
 
Adopted May 2006    


 43  


 
 5.8  If an employee, sent for a Reasonable Suspicion drug and alcohol test, is under 


investigation for an extreme case of violation of District policy, he/she shall be ineligible 
for the rehabilitation options under this program during the period of investigation up to 
the notice of charges.  If the department moves for discharge from employment for the 
extreme case violation within twelve (12) days following the Reasonable Suspicion test, the 
employee shall remain ineligible for the rehabilitation option unless or until the 
disciplinary process is concluded and the employee is exonerated of the extreme case 
charge or the discipline is reduced to a suspension, or less.  If the department does not 
move for discharge from employment within (12) days of the Reasonable Suspicion test, or 
if the department moves for a lesser discipline, the employee shall be eligible for the 
rehabilitation option, providing the employee is otherwise eligible.  Discipline, if any, shall 
go forward notwithstanding the employee’s eligibility for the rehabilitation option. 







 


   
                  Note:  Italics reflect provisions of BART policy and procedures that 
                           are not required by federal law. 
 
Adopted May 2006    


 44  


 
APPENDIX C 


 
Disciplinary and Related Consequences of Drug and Alcohol Testing Program   


 
1.0   Discipline.   
 


Subject to the rehabilitation option,(as described in appendix B of this policy) for pre-employment 
testing (transfer and return from leave), reasonable suspicion testing, and random drug and 
alcohol testing, the District may take disciplinary action up to and including discharge against any 
employee who: 


 
1.1 Tests positive for drugs in an amount which exceeds the cut-off levels for initial and 


confirmatory tests, as established by the Department of Transportation and the Department 
of Health and Human Services (49 C.F.R., 40.29) or 


 
1.2  Tests positive for alcohol in a breath alcohol concentration of 0.04% or greater or 


 
 1.3 Refuses required testing pursuant to this program, or refuses to fully cooperate with 


 testing procedures; or 
 


1.4  Adulterates or otherwise interferes with accurate testing required pursuant to this   
 program; or  
 


1.5        Fails to comply with the provisions of a rehabilitation program, including aftercare  
  program; or 


 
1.6 In addition, the District will discipline any employee who has used or possessed drugs or 


alcohol during work time, or lunch or breaks, or on District premises.  Such discipline will be 
imposed regardless of whether the employee is found to have alcohol or drugs in his/her 
system at or above the cut-off level for a positive test.  (The possession of an unopened, 
sealed container of alcohol will not be in violation of this rule.) 


 
1.7 Discipline is subject to the grievance and arbitration provisions of the applicable collective 


bargaining agreements. 
 


2.0  Return To Work 
 
2.1 Employees who test positive for drugs or alcohol, who refuse to submit to testing or fail to 


 fully cooperate with testing procedures after being selected for testing and employees who 
 engage in prohibited drug use or alcohol misuse will not be permitted to return to duty 
 without first: 
 


2.1.1 Being evaluated by the SAP to determine whether they are in need of assistance in  
resolving problems associated with alcohol misuse or drug use; and 


 
2.1.2 Undergoing a Return-to-Duty drug test with a verified negative result and an alcohol 


test with a result of less than 0.02; 







 


   
                  Note:  Italics reflect provisions of BART policy and procedures that 
                           are not required by federal law. 
 
Adopted May 2006    


 45  


 
 


2.2 In addition, if the employee is identified by the SAP as in need of assistance, the employee 
must: 


 
2.2.1 Properly complete any rehabilitation program prescribed and be re-evaluated by the 


SAP to verify completion and readiness to return to work; and 
 


2.2.2 Be subject to unannounced Follow-up drug and alcohol testing administered by the 
District for up to sixty (60) months following a return to duty, with the frequency and 
duration to be determined by the SAP. 


 
. 


 
 
 







 


   
                  Note:  Italics reflect provisions of BART policy and procedures that 
                           are not required by federal law. 
 
Adopted May 2006    


 46  


EXHIBIT  1 
 


SAFETY SENSITIVE EMPLOYEE MATRIX 
 


Safety-sensitive 
Employee or 
Contractor  job 
functions: 


Definition Job Titles, Classifications Dept. 


Operates a revenue 
service vehicle 


Operates a revenue service vehicle, 
whether the vehicle is in service or 
not 


*Train Operator 
*EDS for Train Operator & 
       Foreworkers 


Transportation 
Transportation 


Dispatches or moves 
trains 


Controls dispatch or movement of a 
revenue service vehicle or equipment 
used in revenue service. 


*Train Controller 
*Power. Support Controller 
*Train Control Elec. Tech. 
*Ops. Foreworker  
*Sr. Ops. Foreworker 


Transportation 
Transportation 
Maint. & Eng. 
Transportation 
Transportation 


Supervisor Supervises employees who perform 
one of these functions & performs 
the function himself/herself. 


*ACTO Central 
*Asst. Mgr. Central 
*Mtnc.Spr. Central 
*Mgr. Central Cntl. 
*Police Chief 
*Deputy Police Chief 
*Police Commander 
*Police Lieutenant 
*Police Sergeant 


Transportation 
Transportation 
Transportation 
Transportation 
Police 
Police 
Police 
Police 
Police 


Provides maintenance 
of  trains and/or  
revenue service 
equipment 


Maintains repairs, provides upkeep 
to keep the vehicle operational or 
overhauls revenue service vehicles 
or equipment used to support 
revenue service (either as an 
employee or contractor). 


*Comm. Elect. Tech. 
*Electr. Repair Shop Tech. 
*Elect/Electro-Mech.  
      Assembler 
*Power MechanicalWkr. 
*Transit VehicleMechanic 
*Transit Veh. Electronic 
       Technician 
*Computr. Elect. Tech. 
*Structures Worker 
*Track Worker 
*Electrician 
*Wayside Inspector 
*Vehicle Inspector 
*Quality Team Leader 
 


Maint. & Eng. 
Rolling Stock 
Rolling Stock 
 
Maint. & Eng. 
Rolling Stock 
 
Rolling Stock 
 Maint. & Eng. 
Maint. & Eng. 
Maint. & Eng. 
Maint. & Eng. 
Maint. & Eng. 
Rolling Stock 
Rolling Stock 







 


   
                  Note:  Italics reflect provisions of BART policy and procedures that 
                           are not required by federal law. 
 
Adopted May 2006    


 47  


Carry a firearm 
Carries a firearm for security 
purposes. 


*Police Chief 
*Deputy Police Chief 
*Police Commander 
*Police Lieutenant 
*Police Sergeant 
*Police  Officer 
*Rev. Protection Guard 


Police 
Police 
Police 
Police 
Police 
Police 
Police                     


 
Commercial Driver 
License Required 


Operate a non-revenue service 
vehicle when required to be operated 
by a holder of a commercial  driver’s 
license 


*Dump Truck & 
       Equipment Operator 
*Irrigation/Grounds 
       Worker 
*Auto/Equip .Mech. 
*Power MechanicalWkr. 
*Structures Equipment Oper. 
*Structures Equip. Operator 
*Structures Welder 
*Track Equip. Operator 
*Track Welder 
*Storekeeper 
*Fire Protection  Worker 


Fac. Maint. 
 
Fac. Maint. 
 
Maint. & Eng. 
Maint. & Eng. 
Maint. & Eng. 
Maint. & Eng. 
Maint. & Eng. 
Maint. & Eng. 
Maint. & Eng. 
Procurement 
Maint. & Eng. 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 







 


   
                  Note:  Italics reflect provisions of BART policy and procedures that 
                           are not required by federal law. 
 
Adopted May 2006    


 48  


 
EXHIBIT  2 


 
 CONTROLLED SUBSTANCES INITIAL & CONFIRMATORY CUT-OFF LEVELS 
 
Pursuant to the Federal Department of Transportation (DOT) regulations, following are the prohibited 
substances to be tested for, and the threshold levels of each substance, which the San Francisco Bay Area 
Rapid Transit District is required to accept: 
 
These cut-off levels are subject to change by the Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS) as 
advances in technology or other considerations warrant identification of these substances at other 
concentrations.   
 
As required by federal regulations, all specimens identified as positive for prohibited substances on the 
initial test will be confirmed using gas chromatography/mass spectrometry (GC/MS) techniques at the cut-
off levels listed below for each drug.  All confirmations will be by quantitative analysis.   
 
PROHIBITED SUBSTANCE 
 


Initial test analyte Initial test cutoff Confirmatory test Confirmatory test cutoff 


Marijuana metabolites 50 ng/mL THCA1 15 ng/mL. 


Cocaine metabolites 150 ng/mL Benzoylecgonine 100 ng/mL. 


Opiate metabolites    


Codeine/Morphine2 2000 ng/mL Codeine 2000 ng/mL. 


  Morphine 2000 ng/mL. 


6–Acetylmorphine 10 ng/mL 6–Acetylmorphine 10 ng/mL. 


Phencyclidine 25 ng/mL Phencyclidine 25 ng/mL. 


Amphetamines3    


AMP/MAMP4 500 ng/mL Amphetamine 250 ng/mL. 


  Methamphetamine5 250 ng/mL. 


MDMA6 500 ng/mL MDMA 250 ng/mL. 


  MDA7 250 ng/mL. 


  MDEA8 250 ng/mL 


 
1Delta-9-tetrahydrocannabinol-9-carboxylic acid (THCA). 
2Morphine is the target analyte for codeine/morphine testing. 
3Either a single initial test kit or multiple initial test kits may be used provided the single test kit detects each 
target analyte independently at the specified cutoff. 
4Methamphetamine is the target analyte for amphetamine/methamphetamine testing. 
5To be reported positive for methamphetamine, a specimen must also contain amphetamine at a concentration equal 
to or greater than 100 ng/mL. 
6Methylenedioxymethamphetamine    







 


   
                  Note:  Italics reflect provisions of BART policy and procedures that 
                           are not required by federal law. 
 
Adopted May 2006    


 49  


(MDMA). 7Methylenedioxyamphetamine 
(MDA). 
8Methylenedioxyethylamphetamine    
(MDEA). 
   
 







 


   
                  Note:  Italics reflect provisions of BART policy and procedures that 
                           are not required by federal law. 
 
Adopted May 2006    


 50  


 ALCOHOL 
 (Includes ethanol, methanol, isopropanol)  


  
INITIAL CUT-OFF   CONFIRMATORY 
 
0.02% BAC* Conducted on an initial test of 0.02% or higher BAC no less than 


15 minutes after initial test, should not exceed 30 minutes after 
initial test.  If test cannot be completed after 30 minutes, BAT must 
explain why on breath alcohol testing form (ATF).  The 
confirmation test can still be performed after 30 minutes. 


 
 
* Breath Alcohol Concentration  (Expressed in terms of grams of alcohol per 210 liters of breath) 
 
Note:  An alcohol positive test is a BAC (breath alcohol concentration) of 0.04% or greater.







 


 
 


48


EXHIBIT 3 
CONTROLLED SUBSTANCES FACT SHEET 


 
The purpose of this fact sheet is to disseminate information concerning the symptoms, risks and effects of substance use/abuse.  It is not intended to be used as a basis for Reasonable Suspicion 
testing.  Presence of a controlled substance is prohibited under District policy and, for safety sensitive employees, is in violation of federal regulations under 49 CFR Parts 40 and 655.  The 
following  information on controlled substances was obtained from the Federal Transit Administration’s “Implementation Guidelines for Drug and Alcohol Regulations in Mass Transit”, April, 
1994. 
 


DRUG DESCRIPTION 
DETECTION 
PERIOD 


SIGNS & 
SYMPTOMS 


HEALTH 
EFFECTS 


Phencyclidine 
(PCP) 


Anesthetic or large animal tranquilizer. Acts 
as depressant, stimulant and hallucinogen.  
Produces  sedation, mood changes.  Smoked 
mixed with marijuana or tobacco. 
Street name:  Angel Dust.  


Casual Use: 
2 to 7 days 
 
Chronic Use: 
Up to 30 days 


Impaired coordination,  
Severe confusion, 
Agitation 
Extreme mood shifts 
Dilated pupils 
Profuse sweating 


High potential for overdose or accidents, acts 
like anesthetic on the body, 4 phases: toxicity, 
toxic psychosis, schizophrenia, depression 


Amphetamines 
 
 
 
 
 
Ecstasy 
(MDMA, MDA 
MDEA) 
 
 


Central nervous system stimulant, to speed 
up mind and body.  Used for weight 
reduction.  Taken orally, injected or snorted.   
Street names: Speed, Meth, Crank, Crystal. 
 
 
Central nervous system stimulant; chemically 
similar to amphetamines & mescaline. 
Usually a pill.  “E”, Ecstasy, Diamonds. 


Amphetamine: 
2 to 4 days 
 
Methamphetamine: 
2 to 4 days 
 
2-4 days 


Hyper-excitability, restlessness, 
Dilated pupils, 
Heart palpitations, 
Irregular heart beat 
Increased aggressiveness 
 
Hyper-excitability, restlessness, irregular 
heartbeat, overheating, dehydration 
Hallucinations 
 
 
 
 


Toxic psychosis, heart attack, stroke, brain 
damage, bizarre and violent acts, depression 
upon withdrawal.  
 
 
 
Significant blood pressure increase, 
dehydration, psychosis, violent behavior, 
depression, seizures 


Cocaine 
 
 
 
 


Medically used as local anesthetic. Powerful 
physical/mental stimulant.  Snorted, injected 
or vapor inhaled, rubbed on gums.   
Street names: Coke, Rock, Crack, Free Base, 
Snow, Blow.  


12 to 72 hours. Financial problems, frequent absences from 
work, increased physical activity, isolation, 
anxiety, agitation, mood swings, runny or 
irritated nose, talkativeness, paranoia, 
hallucinations. 
 


Speeds up aging process, could lead to 
Parkinson’s Disease, strokes, heart attacks, 
emotional and physical dependency, overdose 
death. 


Marijuana 
(Cannabinoids) 
 
 


Mildly tranquilizing, mood and perception 
altering.  Sold in small in plastic bags.  
Smoked   or ingested orally.   
Street names: Pot, Grass, Joint, Reefer, THC, 
Hash, Sinsemilla, Acapulco Gold, Marinol 


Casual Use: 
2 to 7 days 
 
Chronic Use: 
Up to 30 days. 


Reddened eyes, slowed speech, distinctive 
odor, “I don’t care” attitude, chronic fatigue, 
lack of motivation, irritating cough, chronic 
sore throat.  Mental effects: delayed decisions, 
impaired short-term memory, impaired signal 
detection, erratic cognitive function. 


Chronic smoking causes emphysema-like 
conditions, fungus and sinus infections, 
lowered immune system, decreased 
testosterone, increased estrogen; pregnant 
women have higher number of stillbirths. 


Opiates 
(Narcotics: 
Opium, Morphine, 
Codeine, Heroin) 


Pain reduction; depress body functions and 
reactions, produces strong euphoria.   
Synthetics: Demerol,  Percodan, Oxycontin, 
Vicodan  Taken orally   injected or smoked.   
Street names: Smack, Horse 


2 to 4 days Mood changes, impaired mental function, 
constricted pupils, depression & apathy, 
impaired coordination,  fatigue, drowsiness, 
nausea, vomiting, constipation, impaired  
respiration. 


Risk of contracting hepatitis, AIDS, risk of 
accidents, risk of overdose. 







 


 49 


EXHIBIT 4 
ALCOHOL MISUSE FACT SHEET 


 
Alcohol is a legal drug.  When consumed for its physical and mood-altering affects, it is a substance of abuse.  The  following  facts  are provided for informational purposes only 
and are not designed to be used as a basis for reasonable cause testing..  The following alcohol information was obtained from the Federal Transit Administration’s 
“Implementation Guidelines for Drug and Alcohol Regulations in Mass Transit”, April, 1994. 
 


DESCRIPTION DETECTION PERIOD  
SIGNS &  
SYMPTOMS 


HEALTH EFFECTS 


A socially acceptable drug, recreational 
beverage when used in moderation for 
enjoyment and relaxation during social 
gatherings. 


Approximately 8 hours Dulled mental processes, lack of 
coordination, odor of alcohol on breath, 
sleepy or stuporous condition, slowed 
reaction time, slurred  speech. 


Average of 3 servings per day over time 
may result in the following: 
Decreased sexual function 
Dependency 
Liver disease 
Cancer of the mouth, tongue, pharanx, 
esophagus, rectum, breast, malignant 
melanoma 
Kidney disease 
Pancreatitis 
Spontaneous abortion 
Ulcers 
Birth defects 
 


 
 
 
 
SOCIAL EFFECTS OF ALCOHOL MISUSE: 


The following statistics were obtained from the Federal Transit Administration’s “Implementation Guidelines for Drug and Alcohol Regulations in  Mass Transit”, April, 1994 
 
 Two-thirds of all homicides are committed by people who drink prior to the crime. 
 
 Two-thirds  of all Americans will be involved in an alcohol-related vehicle accident during their lifetime. 
 
 The rate if separation and divorce in families with alcohol dependency problems is 7 times the national average. 
 
 Alcoholics are 15 times  more likely to commit suicide than are other segments of the population. 
 
 A person who is under the influence of drugs or alcohol is 6 times more likely to have an accident than a sober person. 
 


 More than 60% of burns, 40% of falls, 69% of boating accidents and 76% or private aircraft accidents are alcohol or drug-relate







 


 50


EXHIBIT 5 
 


DRUG AND ALCOHOL TESTING PROVIDERS 
 
 SUBSTANCE ABUSE PROFESSIONAL (SAP) 


Contractor 
Patricia Altemura, LMFT, CEAP, SAP 
Claremont Behavioral Services 
1050 Marina Village Parkway, Suite 203 
Alameda, CA  94501 
(800) 834-3773 
Direct (510) 995-1112 
Cell (510) 368-3985 
 


 LABORATORY 
Contractor: 
Phamatech, Inc. 
10151 Barnes Canyon Road 
San Diego, CA  92121 
(858) 643-5555 


 
 MEDICAL REVIEW OFFICER 


Contractor: 
Benjamin Gerson, M.D. 
University Services 
2837 Southampton Road 
Philadelphia, PA  19154 
(800) 624-3784 


 
 ON-SITE COLLECTION SERVICES 


Contractor: 
Random, Reasonable Suspicion, Post-Accident 
Collection Plus              American Industrial Care 
2129 Hacienda Way Suite H   2477 Pacheco Street  
Sacramento CA  95824    Concord, CA  94520 
(916) 487-3152     (925) 674-8080 


 
 OFF-SITE COLLECTION SERVICES: 


Contractor: 
Pre-employment, Return to Work, Follow-up: 
Concentra 
384 Embarcadero West 
Oakland, CA  94607 
(510) 465-9565 


 
Follow-up, Rehabilitation: 
MPI Treatment Services  
3012 Summit St., 6th Floor  
Oakland, CA 94609  
(510) 869-8850  


 
New Bridge Foundation 
1820 Scenic Ave. 
Berkeley, CA 94704 
(510) 548-7270 








El Cerrito Plaza TOD
Memorandum of Understanding with City of El Cerrito
September 8, 2016







Overview


• BART and the City of El Cerrito would like to pursue 
TOD at El Cerrito Plaza BART


• City wants to consider new public library, as part of 
broader, mixed-use TOD project


• BART and City propose MOU to complete a 
Feasibility Analysis, considering:


• Market conditions
• Design principles
• Parking / Parking replacement options
• Suitability of site for a El Cerrito Library as part of broader TOD
• Additional feasibility issues


1







BART TOD Policy


2


Manage Resources Strategically to Support Transit-Oriented 
Development 
1. Solicit proposals for transit-oriented development in localities that have an 
adopted plan


Support Transit-Oriented Districts 
2. Proactively support local jurisdictions in creating station area plans and land 
use policies
3. Form partnerships with public agencies 


Enhance Benefits of TOD through Investment in the Program
4.  Use a variety of tools to achieve station area TOD objectives


Other Benefits
- Land use type consistent with TOD Policy


- Activation of ground floor with residential above
- Affordable housing







3


Land Use Context 


Site A:  
Zoning = Mixed Use
Max height =  65’
Min. Parking = 0.75/unit


Site B and C:  Zoning = Mixed Use
Max height =  65’ (or up to 85’ for affordable)
Max Parking = 1 space/unit







Readiness


4


1) Land Use Context
- San Pablo Specific Plan recently adopted (2014)
- Form Based Code
- Parking Maximums
- Complete Streets
- Ohlone Greenway
- Affordable housing
- Local support (council unanimously supported advancing TOD w/ BART, August 2016)
- Active / thriving partnership with City


2) Market Portfolio Analysis (EPS Report, 2013) – Development Potential 
- Southern El Cerrito location with nearby low-rise residential but no major office
- Nearby El Cerrito Plaza shopping center is an amenity to the BART site
- Urban planning for mid-rise development
- Real estate market limits
- Community scrutiny of major development projects, particularly multifamily residential







BART Station Access Policy


• Current Station Typology
Balanced Intermodal


• Aspirational Station Typology
Urban with Parking


Station Profile
• ~5,000 riders per day


• 80% home-based
• 20% non-home based


• Vehicle parking = 791 spaces
• Bus routes = 4
• Bus bay positions = 9


5


El Cerrito Plaza BART Mode of Access
Home-based entries (2015)







Recommendation + 
Next Steps


Recommendation 
• Authorize BART GM to enter into MOU with City of El Cerrito to 


pursue studying the feasibility of TOD at El Cerrito Plaza BART


Next Steps
• City of El Cerrito and BART will pursue implementation of a 


feasibility analysis, targeted for completion in early 2017


• City of El Cerrito and BART staff will present the Feasibility 
Analysis to their respective legislative bodies thereafter in order 
to obtain direction on whether to pursue a potential TOD.


6







El Cerrito Plaza TOD
Memorandum of Understanding with City of El Cerrito
September 8, 2016







Extra Slides - BART 
Owned Sites


8







Extra Slides - BART 
Owned Sites


9








California 
Low Carbon Fuel Standard: 
Program Overview


Sept 8, 2016







California Low Carbon Fuel Standard (LCFS)


Program Overview


1


• New state funding source; administered by 
Air Resources Board.


• Goal to decrease greenhouse gas (GHG) 
emissions.


• Potential BART revenue @ $4 ‐ $8 M / year, 
(dependent on market price), credits 
generated by electric transit.


• Credits are sold only to oil companies.
• Statute does not restrict the use of funds.







California Low Carbon Fuel Standard (LCFS)


Policy Framework


AB 32 (2006)


Cap and Trade
Stationary emissions, 
including refineries


LCFS
Carbon intensity of 


fuels


Fuels


Vehicles and Engines –
AB 1493 (2002)


Land use impact on 
transportation  –
SB 375 (2008)


Transportation 
impacts on 


climate change


2







California Low Carbon Fuel Standard (LCFS)


Purpose


3


• Reduce carbon intensity of transportation 
fuel by 10% below 2010 levels by 2020.


• High carbon intensity fuel providers 
participate in market to buy credits.


• Credits result from production of low‐
carbon fuels.







California Low Carbon Fuel Standard (LCFS)


Fixed Guideway


4


• Fixed Guideway eligibility begins Jan. 2016.
• Credits added to the LCFS market for 


replacement of high‐carbon fuels with low‐
carbon electrified transportation.


• All transit agencies traveling on fixed 
guideway in California, using electric power, 
are eligible. 







California Low Carbon Fuel Standard (LCFS)


Anticipated Funds Available


5


• BART estimates $4 ‐ 8 M / year, dependent 
on market, at least through 2020.


• More credits for “new” electric BART 
services (expansion, more frequent service). 


• BART must sell its credits to high carbon 
intensity fuel providers. (e.g. oil refiners)


• No obligation to use funds for any specific 
purpose.







California Low Carbon Fuel Standard (LCFS)


Framework for BART LCFS Program


6


• Operations
• Sustainability
• Capacity/Reliability
• Access







California Low Carbon Fuel Standard (LCFS)


Next Steps


7


• Continue to earn LCFS credits
• Monitor LCFS market
• Prepare policy for Board consideration





